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The City of Norfolk, Virginia (the “City”) prepared this Offi cial Statement to provide information on the 
2008C Bonds (the “Bonds”).  This cover page presents a summary of selected information for your convenience 
and does not provide a complete description of the Bonds.  To make an informed decision regarding the Bonds, 
you should read this Offi cial Statement in its entirety.  

Tax Matters In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under current law and assuming the compliance 
with certain covenants by and the accuracy of certain representations and 
certifi cations of the City and other persons and entities described in “Tax 
Matters” on page 6, interest on the Bonds (a) is excludable from the gross income 
of the owners of the Bonds for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and (b) is not a 
specifi c item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax 
imposed on individuals and corporations.  Bond Counsel observes that interest on 
the Bonds may be included in the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations 
for purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on such 
corporations.

Bond Counsel is of the further opinion that interest on the Bonds is excludable 
from gross income for purposes of income taxation by the Commonwealth of 
Virginia (the “Commonwealth”).

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other tax consequence related 
to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the 
Bonds.

See “Tax Matters” on page 6 regarding other tax considerations.

Security The Bonds are general obligations of the City.  See page 5.

Redemption See inside cover.

Authority for Issuance Ordinance No. 43,104, adopted by the City Council of the City on June 3, 2008, 
authorizes the issuance of the Bonds.

Purpose The City will use these proceeds to (i) fi nance capital projects and (ii) pay costs of 
issuance of the Bonds.  See page 4.

Interest Payment Dates Semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 beginning October 1, 2008.

Registration Book-Entry-Only; The Depository Trust Company.  See page 2.

Closing/Delivery Date On or about June 30, 2008.

Bond Counsel McGuireWoods LLP, Richmond, Virginia.

Financial Advisor Public Financial Management, Inc., Arlington, Virginia.

Registrar/Paying Agent Director of Finance of the City.

Issuer Contact Director of Finance of the City.  (757) 664-4346.

Dated: June 17, 2008



 

CITY OF NORFOLK, VIRGINIA 

$153,605,000 
General Obligation Capital Improvement Bonds, 

Series 2008C 
 
 

(Base Cusip Number 655867) 
 

2008C Bonds 
Maturities, Amounts, Interest Rates, Yields and Prices 

 
Year of 

Maturity 
Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate 

 
Yield/Price

CUSIP 
Suffix 

2009 $6,530,000 4.00% 1.75% EN5 
2010 6,985,000 5.00 2.40 EP0 
2011 7,075,000 5.00 2.97 EQ8 
2012 7,160,000 5.00 3.17 ER6 
2013 7,255,000 5.00 3.33 ES4 
2014 6,995,000 5.00 3.56 ET2 
2015 7,100,000 5.00 3.70 EU9 
2016 7,215,000 5.00 3.83 EV7 
2017 7,330,000 5.00 3.96 EW5 
2018 7,450,000 5.00 4.08* EX3 
2019 7,575,000 5.00 4.18* EY1 
2020 7,710,000 5.00 4.28* EZ8 
2021 7,850,000 5.00 4.36* FA2 
2022 7,995,000 5.00 4.42* FB0 
2023 8,145,000 5.00 4.47* FC8 
2024 8,310,000 4.70        100 FD6 
2025 8,470,000 4.75        100 FE4 
2026 8,640,000 4.75 4.78 FF1 
2027 8,815,000 4.80        100 FG9 
2028 9,000,000 5.00 4.64* FH7 

 
* Priced to the first optional redemption date of April 1, 2017. 

 
Optional Redemption 

 
The Bonds maturing on or before April 1, 2017 are not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity.  The Bonds 

maturing after April 1, 2017 are subject to optional redemption prior to their respective maturities on or after April 1, 2017 at 
the option of the City, in whole or in part (in increments of $5,000) at any time, at par plus the interest accrued on the principal 
amount to be redeemed to the date fixed for redemption. 
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 All quotations from, and summaries and explanations of, provisions of law and documents herein do not purport to be complete and 
reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their provisions.  Any statements made in this Official 
Statement involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as estimates or opinions and not as 
representations of fact.  The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this 
Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implications that there has been no change in the 
affairs of the City since the respective dates as of which information is given herein. 

 No dealer, broker, salesman or any other person has been authorized by the City or the successful bidders to give any information or to 
make any representations with respect to the City or Bonds issued thereby, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given or 
made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City or the successful bidders. 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 

Relating to the Issuance of 

City of Norfolk, Virginia  
 

$153,605,000 
General Obligation Capital Improvement Bonds, 

Series 2008C 
 

PART I 
THE BONDS 

 
 The purpose of this Official Statement, including the financial information contained in Appendix A 
attached hereto, is to furnish information in connection with the sale by the City of Norfolk, Virginia (the 
“City”), of its $153,605,000 General Obligation Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2008C (the 
“Bonds”).  The Bonds will be general obligations of the City to the payment of which the full faith and 
credit of the City are pledged.  This Official Statement has been authorized by the City for use in 
connection with the sale of the Bonds. 
 
 The City has undertaken in the Ordinance, as hereinafter defined, to comply with the provisions of 
Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”), promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and as 
in effect on the date hereof, by providing annual financial information and material event notices required 
by the Rule.  See Appendix C, “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT.” 
 
 All financial and other information presented in this Official Statement has been provided by the 
City from its records except for information expressly attributed to other sources.  The presentation of 
information is intended to show recent historic information, and is not intended, unless specifically stated, 
to indicate future or continuing trends in the financial position or other affairs of the City.  No 
representation is made that past experience, as is shown by such financial and other information, will 
necessarily continue or be repeated in the future. 
 
 This Official Statement should be considered in its entirety, and no one subject discussed should be 
considered less important than any other by reason of its location in the text.  Reference should be made 
to laws, reports or other documents referred to in this Official Statement for more complete information 
regarding their contents. 

 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS 
 
General 
 
 The Bonds shall be dated the date of delivery, and shall be payable in annual installments, subject to 
prior redemption, on April 1 of each year, beginning with the year 2009, in the principal amounts and at 
the rates set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement.  Interest will be payable semi-
annually on April 1 and October 1, commencing October 1, 2008. 
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Optional Redemption 
 
 The Bonds maturing on or before April 1, 2017 are not subject to optional redemption prior to 
maturity.  The Bonds maturing after April 1, 2017 are subject to optional redemption prior to their 
respective maturities on or after April 1, 2017 at the option of the City, in whole or in part (in increments 
of $5,000) at any time, at par plus the interest accrued on the principal amount to be redeemed to the date 
fixed for redemption. 
 
 If less than all of the Bonds maturing after April 1, 2017 are called for redemption, the maturities of 
such Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by the Director of Finance of the City in such manner as he 
or she in his or her discretion may determine.  So long as a book-entry system is used for determining 
beneficial ownership of the Bonds, if less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are to be redeemed, The 
Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”) and its participants shall determine which of 
the Bonds within a maturity are to be redeemed. 
 
 Any notice of optional redemption of the Bonds may state that it is conditioned upon there being 
available on the redemption date an amount of money sufficient to pay the redemption price plus interest 
accrued and unpaid to the redemption date, and any conditional notice so given may be rescinded at any 
time before the payment of the redemption price of any such condition so specified is not satisfied.  If a 
redemption does not occur after a conditional notice is given due to an insufficient amount of funds on 
deposit by the City, the corresponding notice of redemption shall be deemed to be revoked. 
 
 Notice of redemption shall be given by certified or registered mail to DTC or its nominee as the 
registered owner of the Bonds.  Such notice shall be mailed not more than 60 days nor less than 30 days 
before the date fixed for redemption.  The City will not be responsible for mailing notices of redemption 
to the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds. 
 

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM 
 

The description which follows of the procedures and recordkeeping with respect to beneficial 
ownership interests in the Bonds, payments of principal of and interest on the bonds to DTC, its 
nominee, Direct Participants (as defined below) or Beneficial Owners (as defined below), confirmation 
and transfer of beneficial ownership interests in the bonds and other bond-related transactions by and 
between DTC, the Direct Participants and Beneficial Owners is based solely on information furnished 
by DTC. 

DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered 
securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee), or such other name as may 
be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully registered certificate will be issued for 
each maturity of the Bonds and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized 
under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York 
Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of 
the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions 
of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 
3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money 
market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants (the “Direct Participants”) deposit 
with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other 
securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and 
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of 
securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company 



3 

for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which 
are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the 
DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship 
with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (the “Indirect Participants”).  DTC has Standard & 
Poor’s highest rating:  AAA.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and 
www.dtc.org. 

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of the actual 
purchasers of the Bonds (the “Beneficial Owners”) is in turn recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmations from DTC of their 
purchases.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details 
of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 
through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the 
Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct or Indirect Participants acting on 
behalf of the Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their 
ownership interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is 
discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, the Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of the Bonds with DTC and registration in 
the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  
DTC has no knowledge of the identities of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records 
reflect only the identities the Direct Participants to whose accounts the Bonds are credited, which may or 
may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct or Indirect Participants will remain responsible for 
keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of the Bonds may wish to take 
certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, 
such as redemptions, tenders, defaults and proposed amendments to the Bond documents.  For example, 
Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit 
has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may 
wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of the notices be 
provided directly to them. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures.  Under its usual 
MMI procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record date.  The 
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose 
accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Payments of principal of and interest on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co. or such other 
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct 
Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City or 
the bond registrar or paying agent on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown 
on DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing 
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instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in 
bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of 
DTC, the City or the bond registrar and paying agent, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements 
as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of principal and interest to Cede & Co (or such other 
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City or 
the bond registrar and paying agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the 
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the 
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Bonds at 
any time by giving reasonable notice to the City or the bond registrar and paying agent.  Under such 
circumstances, in the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, the Bonds certificates 
are required to be printed and delivered. 

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a 
successor securities depository).  In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

Neither the City nor the bond registrar and paying agent has any responsibility or obligation to the 
Direct or Indirect Participants or the Beneficial Owners with respect to (a) the accuracy of any records 
maintained by DTC or any Direct or Indirect Participant; (b) the payment by any Direct or Indirect 
Participant of any amount due to any Beneficial Owner in respect of the principal of and interest on the 
Bonds; (c) the delivery or timeliness of delivery by any Direct or Indirect Participant of any notice to any 
Beneficial Owner that is required or permitted to be given to Holders; or (d) any other action taken by 
DTC, or its nominee, Cede & Co., as Holder, including the effectiveness of any action taken pursuant to 
an Omnibus Proxy. 

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, as nominee of DTC, references in 
this Official Statement to the Holders of the Bonds or Bondholders mean Cede & Co. and not the 
Beneficial Owners, and Cede & Co. will be treated as the only Holders of the Bonds.  

The City may enter into amendments to the agreement with DTC or successor agreements with a 
successor securities depository, relating to the book-entry system to be maintained with respect to the 
Bonds without the consent of Beneficial Owners or Holders. 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained 
from sources that the City believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy 
thereof. 

 
AUTHORITY FOR AND PURPOSES OF THE BONDS 

 
 The Bonds have been authorized and are being issued pursuant to the Public Finance Act of 1991, 
Chapter 26, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended (the “Virginia Code”), and Ordinance 
No. 43,104 adopted by the City Council of the City (the “City Council”) on June 3, 2008 (the 
“Ordinance”).  The Ordinance authorized the issuance and sale of up to $165,000,000 in general 
obligation bonds. 
 

PLAN OF FINANCE 
 
 Proceeds of the Bonds will be used to provide funds to be used (i) to finance a portion of the City’s 
Capital Improvement Program as the City Council may amend it from time to time, and (ii) to pay the 
costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 
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SOURCES AND USES 

 
 The following tables set forth the anticipated application of the proceeds of the Bonds for the 
purposes described above: 
 

Series 2008C 
 

Sources of Funds
 Par Amount of Bonds $153,605,000.00 
 Plus: Net Original Issue Premium 6,523,804.45 
 
Total Sources 

 
$160,128,804.45 

 
Uses of Funds 

 

 General Capital Fund $125,165,372.00 
 Storm Water Fund 7,993,308.92 
 Wastewater Fund 26,228,211.38 
 Issuance Expenses 1 741,912.15 
 
Total Uses $160,128,804.45 

 
1 Includes Underwriter’s discount. 
 

SECURITY FOR AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT OF THE BONDS 
 
General 
 
 The Bonds are general obligations of the City and the City’s full faith and credit of the City are 
irrevocably pledged to the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.  While the 
Bonds remain outstanding and unpaid, the City Council is authorized and required to levy and collect 
annually, at the same time and in the same manner as other taxes of the City are assessed, levied and 
collected, a tax upon all taxable property within the City, over and above all other taxes authorized or 
limited by law, and without limitation as to rate or amount, sufficient to pay when due the principal of, 
and interest on the Bonds to the extent other funds of the City are not lawfully available and appropriated 
for such purpose. 
 
 The City has never defaulted in the payment of either principal of, or interest on, any indebtedness. 
 
Bondholders’ Remedies in Event of Default 
 
 Section 15.2-2659 of the Virginia Code provides that upon affidavit of any owner, or any paying 
agent therefor, of a general obligation bond in default as to payment of principal or interest, the Governor 
of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commonwealth”) shall conduct a summary investigation.  If such 
default is established to the Governor’s satisfaction, the Governor shall order the State Comptroller to 
withhold all funds appropriated and payable by the Commonwealth to the political subdivision so in 
default and apply the amount so withheld to payment of the defaulted principal and interest.  The State 
Comptroller advises that to date no order to withhold funds pursuant to Section 15.2-2659, or its 
predecessors, Sections 15.1-225 and 15.1-227.61, has ever been issued.  Although Section 15.2-2659 has 
not been considered by a Virginia court, the Attorney General of Virginia has opined that appropriated 
funds may be withheld by the Commonwealth pursuant to one of its predecessors, Section 15.1-225.  In 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, the Commonwealth provided $94,887,236 to the City which was 
deposited in the City’s General Fund. 
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 Although Virginia law currently does not authorize such action, future legislation may enable the 
City to file a petition for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) if it is 
insolvent or unable to pay its debts.  Bankruptcy proceedings by the City could have adverse effects on 
the Bondholders, including (1) delay in the enforcement of their remedies, (2) subordination of their 
claims to claims of those supplying goods and services to the City after the initiation of bankruptcy 
proceedings and to the administrative expenses of bankruptcy proceedings or (3) imposition without their 
consent of a reorganization plan reducing or delaying payment of the Bonds.  The Bankruptcy Code 
contains provisions intended to ensure that, in any reorganization plan not accepted by at least a majority 
of a class of creditors such as the holders of general obligation bonds, such creditors will have the benefit 
of their original claim or the “indubitable equivalent.”  The effect of these and other provisions of the 
Bankruptcy Code cannot be reliably predicted and may be significantly affected by judicial interpretation. 
 

TAX MATTERS 
 
The 2008C Bonds 
 
 Opinion of Bond Counsel.  Bond Counsel’s opinion will state that, under current law and assuming 
the compliance with the Covenants (as defined below) by and assuming the accuracy of certain 
representations and certifications of the City and certain other persons and entities, interest on the 2008C 
Bonds (including any accrued "original issue discount" properly allocable to the owners of the 2008C 
Bonds), (a) is excludable from the gross income of the owners of the 2008C Bonds for purposes of federal 
income taxation under Section 103 of the Code and (b) is not a specific item of tax preference for 
purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations.  Bond Counsel 
observes that interest on the 2008C Bonds may be included in the adjusted current earnings of certain 
corporations for purposes of computing the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on such 
corporations.  See Appendix B for the form of the opinion of Bond Counsel. 
 
 Bond Counsel will express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising with respect 
to the 2008C Bonds. 
 
 Bond Counsel's opinion speaks as of its date, is based on current legal authority and precedent, 
covers certain matters not directly addressed by such authority and precedent, and represents Bond 
Counsel's judgment as to the proper treatment of interest on the 2008C Bonds for federal income tax 
purposes.  Bond Counsel's opinion does not contain or provide any opinion or assurance regarding the 
future activities of the City or about the effect of future changes in the Code, the applicable regulations, 
the interpretation thereof or the enforcement thereof by the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS").  The 
City has covenanted, however, to comply with the requirements of the Code. 
 
 Reliance and Assumptions; Effect of Certain Changes.  In delivering its opinion regarding the 2008C 
Bonds, Bond Counsel is relying upon and assuming the accuracy of certifications and representations of 
representatives of the City, the Underwriters and other public officials as to facts material to the opinion, 
which Bond Counsel has not independently verified. 
 
 In addition, Bond Counsel is assuming continuing compliance with the Covenants (as hereinafter 
defined) by the City.  The Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder contain a number of 
requirements that must be satisfied after the issuance of the 2008C Bonds in order for interest on the 
2008C Bonds to be and remain excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation.  
These requirements include, by way of example and not limitation, restrictions on the use, expenditure 
and investment of the proceeds of the 2008C Bonds and the use of the property financed or refinanced by 
the 2008C Bonds, limitations on the source of the payment of and the security for the 2008C Bonds, and 
the obligation to rebate certain excess earnings on the gross proceeds of the 2008C Bonds to the United 
States Treasury.  The tax certificate for the 2008C Bonds (the "Tax Certificate") contains covenants (the 
"Covenants") under which the City has agreed to comply with such requirements.  Failure by the City to 
comply with the Covenants could cause interest on the 2008C Bonds to become includable in gross 
income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to their date of issue.  In the event of noncompliance 



7 

with the Covenants, the available enforcement remedies may be limited by applicable provisions of law 
and, therefore, may not be adequate to prevent interest on the 2008C Bonds from becoming includible in 
gross income for federal income tax purposes. 
 
 Bond Counsel has no responsibility to monitor compliance with the Covenants after the date of issue 
of the 2008C Bonds. 
 
 Certain requirements and procedures contained, incorporated or referred to in the Tax Certificate, 
including the Covenants, may be changed and certain actions may be taken or omitted under the 
circumstances and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in such document. 
 
 Certain Collateral Federal Tax Consequences.  The following is a brief discussion of certain 
collateral federal income tax matters with respect to the 2008C Bonds.  It does not purport to address all 
aspects of federal taxation that may be relevant to a particular owner thereof.  Prospective purchasers of 
such 2008C Bonds, particularly those who may be subject to special rules, are advised to consult their 
own tax advisors regarding the federal tax consequences of owning or disposing of the 2008C Bonds. 
 
 Prospective purchasers of the 2008C Bonds should be aware that the ownership of tax-exempt 
obligations may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to certain taxpayers including, 
without limitation, financial institutions, certain insurance companies, certain corporations (including S 
corporations and foreign corporations), certain foreign corporations subject to the "branch profits tax," 
individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, taxpayers who may be deemed to 
have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations and taxpayers 
attempting to qualify for the earned income tax credit. 
 
 In addition, prospective purchasers should be aware that the interest paid on, and the proceeds of the 
sale of, tax-exempt obligations, including the 2008C Bonds, are in many cases required to be reported to 
the IRS in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations.  Additionally, backup withholding 
may apply to any such payments made to any 2008C Bond owner who fails to provide an accurate Form 
W-9 Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification, or a substantially identical form, or to 
any 2008C Bond owner who is notified by the IRS of a failure to report all interest and dividends required 
to be shown on federal income tax returns.  The reporting and withholding requirements do not in and of 
themselves affect the excludability of such interest from gross income for federal income tax purposes or 
any other federal tax consequence of purchasing, holding or selling tax-exempt obligations. 
 
 Original Issue Discount.  The "original issue discount" ("OID") on any 2008C Bond is the excess of 
such bond's stated redemption price at maturity (excluding certain "qualified stated interest" that is 
unconditionally payable at least annually at prescribed rates) over the issue price of such bond.  The 
"issue price" of a 2008C Bond is the initial offering price to the public at which price a substantial amount 
of such bonds of the same maturity was sold.  The "public" does not include bond houses, brokers, or 
similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers.  
The issue price for each maturity of the 2008C Bonds is expected to be the initial public offering price set 
forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement, but is subject to change based on actual sales.  
OID on the 2008C Bonds with OID (the "OID Bonds") represents interest that is excludable from gross 
income for purposes of federal and Virginia income taxation.  However, the portion of the OID that is 
deemed to have accrued to the owner of an OID Bond in each year may be included in determining the 
alternative minimum tax and the distribution requirements of certain investment companies and may 
result in some of the collateral federal income tax consequences mentioned in the preceding subsection.  
Therefore, owners of OID Bonds should be aware that the accrual of OID in each year may result in 
alternative minimum tax liability, additional distribution requirements or other collateral federal and 
Virginia income tax consequences although the owner may not have received cash in such year. 
 
 Interest in the form of OID is treated under Section 1288 of the Code as accruing under a constant 
yield method that takes into account compounding on a semiannual or more frequent basis.  If an OID 
Bond is sold or otherwise disposed of between semiannual compounding dates, then the OID which 
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would have accrued for that semiannual compounding period for federal income tax purposes is to be 
apportioned in equal amounts among the days in such compounding period. 
 
 In the case of an original owner of an OID Bond, the amount of OID that is treated as having accrued 
on such OID Bond is added to the owner's cost basis in determining, for federal income tax purposes, gain 
or loss upon its disposition (including its sale, redemption or payment at maturity).  The amounts received 
upon such disposition that are attributable to accrued OID will be excluded from the gross income of the 
recipients for federal income tax purposes.  The accrual of OID and its effect on the redemption, sale or 
other disposition of OID Bonds that are not purchased in the initial offering at the initial offering price 
may be determined according to rules that differ from those described above. 
 
 Prospective purchasers of OID Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the 
precise determination for federal income tax purposes of interest accrued upon sale or redemption of such 
OID Bonds and with respect to state and local tax consequences of owning OID Bonds. 
 
 
 Bond Premium.  In general, if an owner acquires a bond for a purchase price (excluding accrued 
interest) or otherwise at a tax basis that reflects a premium over the sum of all amounts payable on the 
bond after the acquisition date (excluding certain "qualified stated interest" that is unconditionally 
payable at least annually at prescribed rates), that premium constitutes "bond premium" on that bond (a 
"Premium Bond").  In general, under Section 171 of the Code, an owner of a Premium Bond must 
amortize the bond premium over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, based on the owner's yield 
over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, determined based on constant yield principles.  An owner 
of a Premium Bond must amortize the bond premium by offsetting the qualified stated interest allocable 
to each interest accrual period under the owner's regular method of accounting against the bond premium 
allocable to that period.  In the case of a tax-exempt Premium Bond, if the bond premium allocable to an 
accrual period exceeds the qualified stated interest allocable to that accrual period, the excess is a 
nondeductible loss.  Under certain circumstances, the owner of a Premium Bond may realize a taxable 
gain upon disposition of the Premium Bond even though it is sold or redeemed for an amount less than or 
equal to the owner's original acquisition cost.  Prospective purchasers of any Premium Bonds should 
consult their own tax advisors regarding the treatment of bond premium for federal income tax purposes, 
including various special rules relating thereto, and state and local tax consequences, in connection with 
the acquisition, ownership, amortization of bond premium on, sale, exchange, or other disposition of 
Premium Bonds. 
 
 Possible Legislative or Regulatory Action.  Legislation and regulations affecting tax-exempt bonds 
are continually being considered by the United States Congress, the U.S. Department of the Treasury 
("Treasury") and the IRS.  In addition, the IRS has established an expanded audit and enforcement 
program for tax-exempt bonds.  There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed after the 
date of issue of the 2008C Bonds or an audit initiated or other enforcement or regulatory action taken by 
the Treasury or the IRS involving either the 2008C Bonds or other tax-exempt bonds will not have an 
adverse effect on the tax status or the market price of the 2008C Bonds or on the economic value of the 
tax-exempt status of the interest thereon. 
 
Virginia Tax Matters 
 
  Bond Counsel's opinion also will state that interest on the Bonds is excludable from the gross 
income of the owners thereof for purposes of income taxation by the Commonwealth.  Bond Counsel will 
express no opinion regarding (i) other Virginia tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds or (ii) 
any consequences arising with respect to the Bonds under the tax laws of any state or local jurisdiction 
other than Virginia.  Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding 
the tax status of interest on the Bonds in a particular state or local jurisdiction other than Virginia. 
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PENDING LITIGATION 

 
 The City, in the course of doing business, has been named as defendant in certain personal injury 
cases and suits for property damage. 
 
 These suits are being defended by the City Attorney and associated independent counsel retained by 
the City Attorney, and it is the opinion of the City Attorney that any possible losses in connection with 
the above pending litigation will not materially and adversely affect the City’s financial condition.  The 
City Attorney is also of the opinion that the above pending litigation will not affect the validity of the 
Bonds or the ability of the City to levy and collect ad valorem taxes for the payment of the Bonds or the 
interest thereon.  There is no pending litigation with respect to the Bonds or the ability of the City to levy 
and collect ad valorem taxes for the payment of such Bonds or the premium, if any, or interest thereon. 
 

RATINGS 
 
 The City has requested that the Bonds be rated and has furnished certain information to the rating 
agencies including information that may not be included in this Official Statement.  The Bonds have been 
rated A1 by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), ‘AA’ by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services 
(“Standard & Poor’s”), a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and ‘AA’ by Fitch Ratings 
(“Fitch”). 
 
 The ratings reflect only the views of the respective rating agency.  Any explanation of the 
significance of the ratings may be obtained only from the respective rating agency.  Generally, rating 
agencies base their ratings upon information and materials provided to them and upon investigations, 
studies and assumptions by the rating agencies.  There is no assurance that such ratings will not be 
withdrawn or revised downward by Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s or Fitch.  Such action may have an 
adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds.  The City has not undertaken any responsibility after the 
issuance of the Bonds to assure maintenance of the ratings or to oppose any such revision or withdrawal.  
 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The City’s audited general purpose financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, are 
published in Appendix A with accompanying notes.  In addition, Appendix A also includes a report of the 
City’s independent accountants.   
 

CERTIFICATES OF CITY OFFICIALS 
 
 Concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds, the City will furnish (1) a certificate, dated the date of 
delivery of the Bonds, signed by the officers who sign the Bonds, stating that, to the best of their 
knowledge, no litigation is then pending or threatened to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the 
Bonds or the levy or collection of taxes to pay principal, premium, if any, or interest thereon or in any 
manner questioning the proceedings and authority under which the Bonds are issued and (2) a certificate 
dated the date of delivery of the Bonds signed by the appropriate City officials and stating that the 
descriptions and statements in this Official Statement including the Appendices hereto (except in the 
section entitled “Pending Litigation” or relating to DTC) at the time of acceptance of the proposal for the 
Bonds and at the date of delivery were and are true and correct in all material respects and do not contain 
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or 
necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 
misleading. 
 
 The City Attorney will furnish, concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds, a certificate dated the 
date of delivery of the Bonds stating that no litigation is pending or, to the best of his knowledge, 
threatened against the City either (1) to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Bonds, (2) to 
question in any manner the authority of the City to issue or the issuance of the Bonds, or the validity of 
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any proceedings authorizing the Bonds or the levy or collection of taxes to pay the Bonds or (3) to 
question in any manner the boundaries of the City or the title of any officers of the City to their respective 
offices. 
 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 
 
 The City has retained Public Financial Management, Inc. of Arlington, Virginia, as Financial 
Advisor in connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds.  Although Public Financial Management, 
Inc. has assisted in the preparation of this Official Statement, Public Financial Management, Inc. is not 
obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken to make, an independent verification or to assume 
responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the information contained in this Official 
Statement.  Public Financial Management, Inc. is an independent advisory firm and is not engaged in the 
business of underwriting, trading or distributing municipal securities or other public securities. 
 

SALE AT COMPETITIVE BIDDING 
 

The Bonds were sold at competitive bidding on June 17, 2008, to Citigroup Global Markets Inc.  The 
underwriter has supplied the information as to the interest rates and offering prices or yields of the Bonds 
as set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement.  If all of the Bonds are resold to the public at 
such offering prices or yields, the underwriter has informed the City that they anticipate a total 
underwriting compensation of $741,912.15. 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 
 The City will execute and deliver to the purchasers of the Bonds a Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement, the form of which is set forth as Appendix C to this Official Statement, pursuant to which the 
City will covenant and agree, for the benefit of the Holders of the Bonds to provide certain annual 
financial information and material event notices required by Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the “Rule”).  As described in Appendix C, such undertaking requires the City to provide 
only limited information at specified times. 
 
 The continuing obligation of the City to provide annual financial information and notices referred to 
above will terminate with respect to the Bonds when the Bonds are no longer outstanding.  Any failure by 
the City to comply with the foregoing will not constitute a default with respect to the Bonds.  The City 
has been in compliance with the requirements of the Rule over the past five years. 
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MISCELLANEOUS 

 
 This Official Statement and any advertisement of the Bonds are not to be construed as a contract 
with the purchasers of the Bonds.  Any statement made in this Official Statement involving matters of 
opinion or of estimates, whether or not so expressly identified, are set forth as such and not as 
representations of fact, and no representation is made that any of the estimates will be realized. 
 
 The references herein to and summaries of federal, Commonwealth and City laws, including but not 
limited to the Constitution of the Commonwealth, the Virginia Code, the City Charter and documents, 
agreements and court decisions are summaries of certain provisions thereof.  Such summaries do not 
purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to such acts, laws, documents, 
agreements or decisions, copies of which are available for inspection during normal business hours at the 
office of the City Attorney. 
 
 Any questions concerning the content of this Official Statement should be directed to the City’s 
Director of Finance, 600 City Hall Building, Norfolk, Virginia 23510, (757) 664-4346.  The execution 
and distribution of this Official Statement has been duly authorized by the City. 
 
 
 CITY OF NORFOLK, VIRGINIA 

 
  /s/ Regina V.K. Williams 

______________________________ 
  City Manager 
 
   /s/ Alice M. Kelly 

_________________________________ 
                                                                                                                       Acting Director of Finance 
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PART II 
CITY INDEBTEDNESS 

 
Limitation on Incurrence of Debt 
 
 Pursuant to the Constitution of Virginia (the “Constitution”), the City is authorized to issue bonds 
and notes secured by a pledge of its full faith and credit and unlimited taxing power.  There is no 
requirement in the Constitution, the Virginia Code or the City Charter that the issuance of general 
obligation bonds of the City be subject to approval of the electors of the City at referendum.  The issuance 
of general obligation bonds is subject to a limitation of 10% of the assessed value of taxable real property. 
 
 At March 31, 2008, the total assessed value of taxable real property in the City was 
$18,357,180,269.  Based on Virginia’s constitutional debt limitation formula, this resulted in a debt limit 
of $1,835,718,027.  As presented in Table II-1 below, the City’s outstanding general obligation bonds and 
other tax-secured indebtedness as of June 30, 2008, is estimated to be $699,562,293 representing 38.11% 
of the constitutional debt limit. 

 
Table II-1 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Computation of Legal Debt Margin 

June 30, 2008 
 
 
Total assessed value of taxable real property ......     $   18,357,180,269 
 
Debt Limit-10 percent of total assessed value ....            1,835,718,027 
 
Outstanding General Obligation Debt (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7)             699,562,293 
Legal Debt Margin  ......................................     $     1,136,155,734 
 
Amount of debt as a percent of debt limit ...........      38.11% 
 
  
Source: Department of Finance, City of Norfolk. 

 
Notes: 

(1) Defeased bonds are not included in gross debt.  Funds to redeem these bonds have been irrevocably deposited with an 
escrow agent. 

(2) Reflects only bonded debt and does not include the City’s capital lease obligations.  See Table II-8 for information 
about the City’s capital lease obligations. 

(3) The amount of general obligation bonds authorized by ordinance for Capital Improvement Projects, but not yet issued 
is $151,614,199. 

(4) Water Revenue Bonds and Parking System Revenue Bonds are excluded from gross debt, since these bonds are payable 
solely from the revenue of their respective enterprise activities. 

(5) Includes the remaining balance of $2,415,000 on a General Obligation guaranty of $3,300,000 of bonds issued by 
Norfolk Redevelopment and Housing Authority in August 1998.  The bonds mature on August 15, 2015. 

(6) Includes the 20-year $13,000,000 Section 108 Loan with HUD supported by the Broad Creek Renaissance TIF District, 
which matures on August 1, 2023. 

(7) Includes the Bonds. 
 
Debt Outstanding 
 
 The tables that follow detail the City’s current general obligation debt outstanding.  Table II-2 
presents the City’s gross and net outstanding tax-supported and self-supporting general obligation bonded 
indebtedness as of June 30, 2008.  Table II-3 provides a comparative statement of key debt ratios for the 
past ten fiscal years and Table II-4 presents the rate of retirement for all general obligation bonds as of 
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June 30, 2008.  Table II-5 presents the recent historical relationship between debt service on bonds paid 
from actual general governmental expenditures for the past ten fiscal years.  Table II-6 presents the 
historical relationship of the City’s net bonded debt to assessed value of taxable real property and net 
bonded debt per capita.  Table II-7 provides a statement of future annual debt service requirements on the 
City’s existing general obligation bonds. 
 

Table II-2 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

General Obligation Debt Statement (1) (2) (3) 
 
 Projected 

As of 
June 30, 2008 

 
Outstanding Debt 
A.  General Fund Bonds…………………………..
      Outstanding Debt (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9)…………………… $551,610,829 

 
B.  Enterprise Fund Bonds (2)

      Outstanding Debt…………………………….. $145,731,464 
 

C.  Total General Obligation Bond Indebtedness (A+B)
      Debt…………………………………………. $697,342,293 

 
  
Source: City of Norfolk, Virginia. 
 

Notes: 
(1) The amount of general obligation bonds authorized by ordinance, but not yet issued, for Capital Improvement Projects 

is $101,670,177. 
(2) Water Revenue Bonds and Parking System Revenue Bonds are excluded from enterprise fund debt, since these bonds 

are payable solely from the revenue of their respective enterprise activities. 
(3) Reflects only bonded debt and does not include the City’s capital lease obligations.  See Table II-8 for information 

about the City’s capital lease obligations. 
(4) Defeased bonds are not included in gross debt.  Funds to redeem these bonds have been irrevocably deposited with an 

escrow agent. 
(5) Includes the bonded debt of the Storm Water Fund and the Towing and Recovery Fund, which are both special revenue 

funds. 
(6) Includes the remaining balance of $2,320,000 on a General Obligation guaranty of $3,300,000 of bonds issued by 

Norfolk Redevelopment and Housing Authority in August 1998.  The bonds mature on August 15, 2015. 
(7) There are no overlapping or underlying taxing jurisdictions in the City. 
(8) Includes the 20-year $13,000,000 Section 108 Loan with HUD supported by the Broad Creek Renaissance TIF District, 

which matures on August 1, 2023. 
(9) Includes the Bonds. 
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Table II-3 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Key Debt Trends 

Fiscal Years 1998 – 2008 
 
  Gross Bonded Percent of Gross 
 Fiscal Year Gross Principal Bonded Debt to 
 Ended Bonded Debt Outstanding Real Property  
 June 30 (in thousands) (1) (2) (3)  Per Capita (4) Assessed Value (5) 
 
 1998.................  $546,935 $2,330 7.18% 
 1999.................  508,805 2,170 6.41 
 2000.................  488,353 2,083 6.03 
 2001.................  468,445 2,002 5.54 
 2002.................  460,346 1,971 5.18 
 2003.................  460,876 1,970 4.93 
 2004.................  486,242 2,067 4.85 
 2005.................  512,528 2,180 4.68 
 2006.................  475,872 2,032 3.75 
 2007.................  576,809 2,444 3.70 
 2008(6) .............  697,342 N/A N/A 
 
_________ 
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 

Notes: (1) There are no overlapping or underlying taxing jurisdictions in the City. 

(2) Debt payable from Enterprise Fund revenue can be found in Table II-6. 

(3) The defeased portions of bonds are not included in Gross Bonded Debt.  Unamortized premium/discount is 
not included in Gross Bonded Debt. 

(4) Gross Bonded Principal Outstanding Per Capita is based on the population figures from Table II-6. 

(5) Based on the taxable real property assessed value figures from Table III-2. 

(6) Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008, projected includes the Bonds. 

 
Table II-4 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Principal Retirement 

All General Obligation Bonds 
As of June 30, 2008 (1)  

 
 Maturing By Cumulative               Percent of 
 Fiscal Year End  Amount Matured  Principal Retired 
 
 2013 ...................................... $269,189,709 38.60% 
 2018 ...................................... 446,914,062 64.09 
 2023 ...................................... 588,738,122 84.43 
 2028 ...................................... 677,692,293 97.18 
 2033 ...................................... 688,692,293 98.69 
 2038 ...................................... 697,342,293 100.00 
 
_________ 
Source: Department of Finance, City of Norfolk. 
 

Note: (1) Include the Bonds. 
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   Table II-5 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Ratio of Annual Debt Service to 

Total General Governmental Expenditures 
Fiscal Years 1998 - 2007 

 
 
 Fiscal   Percent of 
 Year  Total Total Debt Service to 
 Ended   Debt General    Total General 
 June 30          Service    (1)   Expenditures (2)    Expenditures 
 
 1998 ...............................   $54,163,228  $499,746,145 10.84 % 
 1999 ...............................   49,744,700  519,198,080 9.58 
 2000 ...............................   52,627,625  558,439,186 9.42 
 2001 ...............................   55,926,535  578,776,772 9.66 
 2002 ...............................   53,484,013  431,283,578 12.40 
 2003 ...............................   53,258,272  451,633,988 11.79 
 2004 ...............................   55,000,425  490,944,275 11.20 
 2005 ...............................   58,971,773  490,923,834 12.01 
 2006 ...............................   62,750,385  510,999,836 12.28 
 2007 ...............................   58,045,527  539,491,519 10.76 
__________ 
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 
 
Notes: (1) Includes debt service on general obligation bonds and capital leases payments supported by the General 

Fund. 
 (2) Total general expenditures are presented using the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
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Table II-6 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Ratio of Net General Bonded Debt to Assessed Value and 
Net Bonded Debt Per Capita 

Fiscal Years 1998 - 2007 
 
 

   Assessed    Ratio of Net 
   Value of  Debt  Net Bonded Bonded 
Fiscal Year  Taxable Gross Payable from Net Debt to Debt 
   Ended     Estimated Property Bonded Enterprise Bonded Assessed per 
  June 30 Population (In Thousands)  Debt  Revenue  Debt Value Capita  
 
 1998 234,700 $8,668,361 $546,935,001 $155,077,914 $391,857,087 4.52% $1,670 
 1999 234,500 9,054,436 508,805,001 141,668,034 367,136,967 4.05  1,566 
 2000 234,403 9,325,039 488,351,541 128,007,237 360,344,303 3.86  1,537 
 2001 234,000 9,728,084 468,445,246 114,528,097 353,917,150 3.64  1,512 
 2002 233,600 10,204,892 460,345,861 112,049,824 348,296,037 3.41  1,491 
 2003 233,900 10,742,268 460,876,270 99,220,319 361,655,951 3.37  1,546 
 2004 235,200 11,483,300 486,241,680 87,635,923 398,605,757 3.47  1,695 
 2005 235,071 12,439,004 512,528,634 91,085,187 421,008,476 3.38  1,791 
 2006 234,219 14,332,318 475,872,461 93,099,000 382,773,000 2.67  1,634 
 2007 235,987 15,496,208 576,809,191 107,310,741 469,498,450 3.03  1,990 
  
Source: The source of calendar year population estimates for 1998 through 1999 and 2001 through 2007 is the Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service, University of 
 Virginia.  The source for the population figure for 2000 is the United States Census. 
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Table II – 7 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Long-Term Debt Service Requirements (1) 

 
Existing General Obligation 

 Debt Service (2) (3) (4) 

 
Plus the 2008C Bonds Total Debt (2) (3) (4) 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ended 
 June 30 

 
 

Principal 

 
 

Interest 

 
Total Debt 

Service 

 
 

Principal 

 
 

Interest 

 
Total Debt 

Service 

 
 

Principal 

 
 

Interest 

 
Total Debt 

Service 

2008 $50,231,898 $24,929,663 $75,161,560 $             -  $              - $                 - $50,231,898 $24,929,663 $75,161,561 
2009 53,180,614 23,531,500 76,712,114 6,530,000 5,668,127 12,198,127 59,710,614 29,199,627 88,910,241 
2010 49,592,813 21,041,255 70,634,068 6,985,000 7,268,415 14,253,415 56,577,813 28,309,670 84,887,483 
2011 49,251,808 19,063,466 68,315,274 7,075,000 6,919,165 13,994,165 56,326,808 25,982,631 82,309,439 
2012 44,822,449 16,771,455 61,593,904 7,160,000 6,565,415 13,725,415 51,982,449 23,336,870 75,319,319 
2013 37,337,025 14,741,865 52,078,890 7,255,000 6,207,415 13,462,415 44,592,025 20,949,280 65,541,305 
2014 31,406,894 13,107,087 44,513,981 6,995,000 5,844,665 12,839,665 38,401,894 18,951,752 57,353,646 
2015 31,429,115 11,660,743 43,089,858 7,100,000 5,494,915 12,594,915 38,529,115 17,155,658 55,684,773 
2016 28,947,229 10,293,208 39,240,437 7,215,000 5,139,915 12,354,915 36,162,229 15,433,123 51,595,352 
2017 25,868,557 9,041,727 34,910,284 7,330,000 4,779,165 12,109,165 33,198,557 13,820,892 47,019,449 
2018 23,982,558 7,921,388 31,903,946 7,450,000 4,412,665 11,862,665 31,432,558 12,334,053 43,766,611 
2019 23,539,109 6,867,792 30,406,901 7,575,000 4,040,165 11,615,165 31,114,109 10,907,957 42,022,066 
2020 22,198,227 5,845,817 28,044,044 7,710,000 3,661,415 11,371,415 29,908,227 9,507,232 39,415,459 
2021 20,063,886 4,891,811 24,955,697 7,850,000 3,275,915 11,125,915 27,913,886 8,167,726 36,081,612 
2022 19,178,269 4,063,717 23,241,986 7,995,000 2,883,415 10,878,415 27,173,269 6,947,132 34,120,401 
2023 17,569,570 3,276,100 20,845,670 8,145,000 2,483,665 10,628,665 25,714,570 5,759,765 31,474,335 
2024 16,088,852 2,574,766 18,663,618 8,310,000 2,076,415 10,386,415 24,398,852 4,651,181 29,050,033 
2025 11,449,395 2,000,307 13,449,702 8,470,000 1,685,845 10,155,845 19,919,395 3,686,152 23,605,547 
2026 8,250,424 1,549,987 9,800,411 8,640,000 1,283,520 9,923,520 16,890,424 2,833,507 19,723,931 
2027 7,602,159 1,239,727 8,841,886 8,815,000 873,120 9,688,120 16,417,159 2,112,847 18,530,006 
2028 2,328,341 1,049,484 3,377,825 9,000,000 450,000 9,450,000 11,328,341 1,499,484 12,827,825 
2029 1,290,000 974,695 2,264,695 - - - 1,290,000 974,695 2,264,695 
2030 1,355,000 906,196 2,261,196 - - - 1,355,000 906,196 2,261,196 
2031 1,425,000 832,875 2,257,875 - - - 1,425,000 832,875 2,257,875 
2032 1,495,000 756,820 2,251,820 - - - 1,495,000 756,820 2,251,820 
2033 4,970,000 522,061 5,492,061 - - - 4,970,000 522,061 5,492,061 
2034 1,650,000 407,466 2,057,466 - - - 1,650,000 407,466 2,057,466 
2035 1,730,000 318,409 2,048,409 - - - 1,730,000 318,409 2,048,409 
2036 1,820,000 225,098 2,045,098 - - - 1,820,000 225,098 2,045,098 
2037 1,910,000 126,255 2,036,255 - - - 1,910,000 126,255 2,036,255 
2038 2,005,000 23,474 2,028,474 - - - 2,005,000 23,474 2,028,474 
Totals $593,969,192 $210,556,214 $804,525,405 $153,605,000 $81,013,337 $234,618,337 $747,574,192 $291,569,551 $1,039,143,743 

________ 
Source:   Department of Finance, City of Norfolk. 
Notes: (1) Figures may not sum due to rounding. 

 (2) Includes principal payable from the City’s enterprise funds. 
 (3) Existing General Obligation Debt Service includes self-supporting principal payable from the City’s Environmental Storm Water Fund, a special revenue fund. 
 (4) Includes estimated net debt service on the City’s General Obligation Variable Rate Demand Bonds, Series 2007, assuming an average interest rate of 3.74%. 
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Debt Incurred by Other Governmental Entities 
 
Overlapping Debt 
 
 The City is autonomous from any county, town or other political subdivision.  There are no 
overlapping or underlying taxing jurisdictions with debt outstanding for which City residents are liable. 
 
Short-Term Borrowing  
 
 The City has not borrowed on a short-term basis for working capital purposes in the past five fiscal 
years. 
 
Capital Lease Obligations 
 
 The City leases certain buildings and certain computer, automotive, solid waste automation and other 
heavy equipment, which are recorded at a cost of $8,296,539.  No additions to Capital Leases were 
recorded, in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.  The remaining debt service requirements will be retired 
by funds from the General Fund on the aforementioned contracts as summarized in Table II-8. 

 
Table II - 8 

City of Norfolk 
Capital Lease Obligations 

 
 
 

Year Ending 
June 30 

 
General 

Long-Term 
Obligations 

Internal 
Service 
Funds 

 
 
 

Totals 
      

2008   $    3,838,480  $       2,878  $    3,841,358 
2009  2,737,843  2,878  2,740,721 
2010  1,434,059  2,878  1,436,937 
2011  646,861  2,397  649,258 
2012  35,764  ---  35,764 

Thereafter             17,605                     ---             17,605 
      

Total minimum lease 
   payments 

 $    8,710,612  $     11,031  $    8,721,643 

      
Less interest        (414,073)           (808)        (414,881) 
  $    8,296,539  $     10,223  $    8,306,762 
      
Less current portion     (3,838,480)         (2,878)     (3,841,358) 
  $    4,458,059  $       7,345  $    4,465,404 

_______ 
Source:  Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 
 
Water Revenue Bonds 
 
 Since 1993, and for all future financings, capital improvements of the Water Utility System are 
anticipated to be financed with revenue bonds.  The revenue covenant for these revenue bonds requires 
the City to establish, fix, charge and collect rates, fees and other charges for the use of and for the services 
furnished by the water system, and will, from time to time and as often as appears necessary, revise such 
rates, fees and other charges, so that in each fiscal year net revenues are not less than the greater of (i) the 
sum of 1.1 times senior debt service and 1.0 times subordinated debt service for the fiscal year and (ii) 1.0 
times the funding requirements for transfers from the revenue fund to the operating fund, the  bond fund, 
the parity debt service fund, the debt service reserve fund, the subordinate debt service fund and the repair 
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and replacement reserve fund.  Fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 results reflect compliance with this 
requirement. 
 
Parking System Revenue Bonds 
 
 Since 1997, capital improvements of the Parking Facilities Fund have been financed with revenue 
bonds.  The revenue covenant for these revenue bonds requires the City to establish, fix, charge and 
collect rates, fees and other charges for the use of and for the services furnished by the parking facilities, 
and will, from time to time and as often as appears necessary, revise such rates, fees and other charges, so 
that in each fiscal year net revenues are not less than the greater of (i) the sum of 1.25 times senior debt 
service and 1.0 times subordinated debt service for the fiscal year and (ii) 1.0 times the funding 
requirements for transfers from the revenue fund to the bond fund, the parity debt service fund, the debt 
service reserve fund, the MacArthur Garage reserve fund, the repair and replacement reserve fund, the 
surety bond interest fund and the subordinate debt service fund.  Fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 results 
reflect compliance with this requirement. 
 
Debt History 
 
 The City has never defaulted in the payment of either principal of, or interest on, any indebtedness. 
 
Capital Improvement Program Budget 
 
 The City has a Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Budget which plans for capital type 
improvements for a five-year period.  This CIP Budget is reviewed and revised annually. 
 
 The City approved its fiscal year 2009 CIP Budget on May 22, 2008.  The total of the CIP Budget 
for fiscal year 2009 is $176,049,310.  This includes a $16,803,863 transfer from the fiscal year 2009 
Operating Budget, which reduces the City’s reliance on bond financing.  Five years of CIP activities have 
been planned in the approved fiscal years 2009 – 2013 CIP.  Future year projects in the CIP Budget are 
considered for planning purposes only and may be modified, at any time, by the City Council.  In 
addition, the CIP Budget is used by the City as a means of identifying short- and long-term needs and as a 
guide for identifying various funding sources for future CIP Budgets. 
 
 The CIP Budget is developed in coordination with and at the same time as other City budgets.  It is 
prepared for submission by the City Manager to the City Council concurrently with the Proposed 
Operating Budget.  Hearings are held as appropriate, and the final CIP Budget is adjusted with a 
determination being made of the source and amount of funding to be recommended for each item. 
 
 The fiscal year 2009 CIP Budget is summarized in Table II-9.  Table II-10 summarizes the CIP for 
fiscal years 2009 – 2013. 
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Table II-9 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Year 2009 

 
 
Uses 

Approved Budget 
FY – 2009 

  
General Capital Projects $124,189,310 
Parking Fund Projects  1,010,000 
Storm Water Fund Projects 3,500,000 
Water Fund Projects 30,350,000 
Wastewater Fund Projects 16,500,000 
Towing and Recovery Fund Projects          500,000 

  
Total Capital Program  $176,049,310 
 
Appropriation Source 

 

  
General Capital Projects  
  From Bond Issue $108,445,447 
  From Cash 15,743,863 
  
Parking Fund Projects  
  From Bond Issue  600,000 
  From Parking Facilities Cash 410,000 
  
Storm Water Fund Projects  
  From Bond Issue 3,500,000 
  
Water Fund Projects  
  From Bond Issue  29,700,000 
  From Water Fund Cash 650,000 
  
Wastewater Fund Projects  
  From Bond Issue 16,500,000 
  
Towing and Recovery Fund Projects   
  From Bond Issue          500,000 
  
Total Capital Program  $176,049,310 

  
________ 
Source: Capital Improvement Program Budget, Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2009. 
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Table II-10 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Capital Improvement Program 
Fiscal Years 2009 through 2013 

 
       

Description FY-2009 

Budget 

FY-2010 

Plan 

FY-2011 

Plan 

FY-2012 

Plan 

FY-2013 

Plan 

FY 2009 – 2013 

Total 
       
       
GENERAL CAPITAL      
   Schools $        500,000 $   15,200,000 $   15,200,000 $   2,500,000 $   2,500,000 $   35,900,000 
   Non-Schools   123,689,310    144,561,844     95,818,370 36,211,470   31,262,470   431,543,464 
     TOTAL GENERAL CAPITAL 124,189,310 159,761,844 111,018,370 38,711,470 33,762,470 467,443,464 
       
STORM WATER FUND 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 17,500,000 
       
PARKING FUND 1,010,000 960,000 600,000 600,000 600,000 3,770,000 
       
WASTEWATER FUND 16,500,000 16,500,000 16,500,000 16,500,000 16,500,000 82,500,000 
       
WATER FUND 30,350,000 6,450,000 12,500,000 7,930,000 4,352,000 61,582,000 
       
TOWING AND RECOVERY FUND 500,000 0 0 0 0 500,000 
       
   TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAM $176,049,310 $187,171,844 $144,118,370 $67,241,470 $58,714,470 $633,295,464 
 
  
Source: Capital Improvement Program Budget, Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2009. 
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PART III 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

 
 
Fiscal Year 

 
 The City’s fiscal year commences July 1 and closes on June 30. 

 
Reporting Entity 

 
 For financial reporting purposes, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP), the City’s financial statements include the City of Norfolk (primary government) and its 
component units. 
 
• The School Board of the City of Norfolk 
• The Employees’ Retirement System of the City of Norfolk (ERS) 
• The Norfolk Community Services Board (NCSB) 
• The Norfolk Redevelopment and Housing Authority (NRHA) 
 
 
 Complete financial statements of the individual component units can be obtained from their 
respective administrative offices.  Contact information for such administrative offices can be obtained 
through contacting the office of the Director of Finance of the City. 

 

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND ACCOUNTING STRUCTURE 
 

The City’s financial statements include the following sections: 

• Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A).   
- The MD&A introduces the basic financial statements and provides an 

analytical overview of the government's financial activities. 

• Basic Financial Statements.  The Basic Financial Statements include: 
- Government-wide financial statements, consisting of a statement of net assets 

and a statement of activities; 
- Fund financial statements consisting of a series of statements that focus on 

information of the government's major governmental, enterprise and fiduciary 
funds and component units; and 

- Notes to the financial statements provide information essential to a user's 
understanding of the basic financial statements. 

• Required Supplementary Information (RSI).  In addition to MD&A, budgetary comparison 
schedules are presented as RSI along with other types of data as required by GASB. 

 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 

focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements.  Revenues are 
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the 
provider have been met. 
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Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Under this method, revenue and related 
assets are recorded when they become both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be 
available when they are collected within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of 
the current period.  For this purpose, the City generally considers revenues, except for grant revenues, to 
be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the fiscal year.  Property taxes due and 
collected within 45 days after year-end are recognized as revenue: those not collected within 45 days after 
year-end are reported as deferred revenue when received.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a 
liability is incurred.  However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated 
absences and claims and judgments, are recorded when payment is due. 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
 Section 99 of the City Charter requires that “...as soon as practicable after the close of each fiscal 
year an annual audit shall be made of all the accounts of the city offices...by certified public accountants 
selected by the council...”  The firm of McGladrey & Pullen, L.L.P. served as the City’s independent 
auditors.  The audited general purpose financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, are 
published in Appendix A with accompanying notes. 
 

BUDGETARY PROCESS 
 
 The City Charter requires that no less than 60 days before the end of the fiscal year, the City 
Manager must submit to the City Council a proposed balanced operating budget for the ensuing fiscal 
year that commences July 1.  The Public Schools proposed budget is approved by the School Board, 
transmitted to the City Manager for review and then submitted to the City Council for consideration as 
part of the City’s general operating budget.  The City Council is required to hold a public hearing on the 
budget at which time all interested persons have the opportunity to comment. 
 
 The financial forecast, the first step in the budget process, is an essential component of the annual 
process of assessing the City’s overall financial condition and looking at its finances in a multi-year 
context.  The primary objective of the financial forecast is to project where current budget decisions lead 
in terms of future revenue and expenditures and their impact on the City’s financial stability.  This, 
therefore, provides the opportunity to proactively evaluate policies with the goal of maximizing 
opportunities or, in the worst case, minimizing the negative impact of economic downturns. 
 

GENERAL GOVERNMENTAL REVENUE 
Overview 
 
 General governmental revenue is derived from general property taxes, other local taxes, permits, 
privilege fees and regulatory licenses, fines and forfeitures, use of money and property, charges for 
services, recovered costs and non-categorical aid, shared expenses and categorical aid from the 
Commonwealth.  General Fund disbursements include the normal recurring activities of the City, such as 
police, public works, general government, transfers to the School Operating Fund for local share of costs 
and to the Debt Service Fund to pay principal and interest on the City’s general obligation bonds for other 
than enterprise fund purposes. 
 
Property Tax Rates, Levies and Collections 
 
 An annual ad valorem tax is levied by the City on the assessed value of real property located within 
the City as of July 1, and on tangible personal property located within the City as of January 1.  Real 
property taxes are the largest single source of tax revenue.  Tax rates are applied to the assessed valuation 
of property. 
 
 The ratio of the assessed value of real property to its estimated fair market value is 100% (other than 
public service properties).  The City taxes several categories of personal property, each of which is 
assessed on a different basis.  Machinery and tools are assessed at 100% of original cost; vehicles and 
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boats are assessed at 100% of certain published loan values; and mobile homes are assessed on the same 
basis as real property. 
 
 The City has the power to levy taxes on property located within its boundaries without limitation as 
to rate or amount for the payment of its obligations.  Rates are established by the City Council.  The tax 
rates approved in the fiscal year 2009 budget, on each $100 of assessed value, which remain unchanged 
from the previous fiscal year, are: $1.50 for recreational vehicles; $2.40 for airplanes; $1.11 for real 
property; $4.25 for personal property; $4.25 for machinery and tools; and $1.11 for mobile homes.  The 
rate on personal recreational boats consists of a decal fee of $10 or $25 depending on the length of the 
boat plus a tax of fifty cents per $100 on the assessed value of the boat.  The tax rate for commercial boats 
is $1.50 per $100 of the assessed value of the boat and a boat decal is not required.  The tax rate for real 
property located in the City’s Business Improvement District is an additional $0.18 on the real property 
rate of $1.11 per $100 of assessed value. 
 
 Real property levies are payable during the year of assessment in four equal installments, on or 
before September 30, December 5, March 31 and June 5.  Personal property, recreational vehicles, 
machinery and tools, mobile homes, airplanes and boat levies are payable on or before June 5 of the year 
assessed or thirty days after acquisition.  Certain types of personal property such as automobiles, trucks, 
motorcycles, trailers and recreational vehicles are prorated throughout the year and payable thirty days 
after acquisition. 
 
 In the event any installment of taxes on any of the properties listed above is not paid on or before the 
due date, penalties and interest are assessed in accordance with the City Code. 
 
 The City Council may require the sale of real property in satisfaction of delinquent taxes, pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 89, City Charter. 
 
Other Revenue Sources 
 
 The City levies various other local taxes:  (1) a 1% local sales tax (collected by the Commonwealth 
and remitted to the City); (2) a tax on consumer utility bills; (3) a cigarette tax of 65 cents per packet; (4) 
property transfer recordation taxes; (5) an automobile license tax; (6) various business license/franchise 
taxes; (7) a hotel and motel tax of 8% and a $1 per room, per night surcharge of which 1% is dedicated to 
tourism and economic  development; (8) an admissions tax of 10%; and (9) a restaurant food tax of 6.5%, 
which includes alcoholic beverages of which 1% is dedicated to tourism and economic development. 
 
 Fees, Licenses and Permits - The City requires that licenses or permits be obtained for the 
performance of certain activities and that fees be paid for services provided by certain City departments. 
 
 Revenue from the Commonwealth of Virginia - The City receives payments for highway 
maintenance, a share of the net profits from the State Alcoholic Beverage Control Board liquor sales, a 
share of state sales taxes allocated for education and, in addition, reimbursement for a portion of certain 
shared expenses relating to expenditures for such functions as Sheriff’s office, Commissioner of the 
Revenue, City Treasurer, Clerk of the Circuit Court and Commonwealth’s Attorney office.  The City also 
receives categorical aid revenue for such purposes as public assistance, education and local law 
enforcement. 
 
 Other Revenue - The primary sources of other revenue to the General Fund include transfers from 
the Water Utility and Wastewater Utility Funds, interest on investments and impact aid from the federal 
government.  Tables III-1A and III-1B show the City’s General Fund revenue by source for each of the 
last ten fiscal years. 
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Table III-1A 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Total Revenue by Source, Governmental Funds 
Fiscal Years 1998 – 2007 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

 
     
 Fiscal    
 Year General Other  Fines Use of Charges 
 Ended Property Local Permits and  and Money and for  Recovered Inter- 
 June 30 Taxes Taxes Licenses Forfeitures Property Services Miscellaneous Costs Governmental Total 
 
 1998 .......... $147,228 $106,499 $2,080 $1,772 $9,160 $18,491 $15,201 $14,468 $98,019 $412,918 
 1999 .......... 147,831 111,212 2,505 1,920 8,785 19,658 18,621 11,139 107,896 429,567 
 2000 .......... 152,062 119,107 2,943 1,661 10,275 18,836 13,990 12,338 133,526 464,738 
 2001 .......... 153,366 126,537 2,601 1,684 11,361 18,745 13,681 14,135 122,677 464,787 
 2002 .......... 159,512 127,262 2,700 1,541 11,247 18,312 12,337 10,008 133,332 476,251 
 2003 .......... 168,893 132,847 2,973 1,569 8,791 29,390 24,785 9,556 131,071 509,875 
 2004 .......... 178,361 140,675 3,204 1,627 8,333 31,342 17,339 12,297 160,118 553,296 
 2005 .......... 193,293 150,477 3,542 1,763 10,232 29,129 18,951 14,188 147,045 568,620 
 2006 .......... 211,788 157,616 4,088 1,461 10,498 32,772 33,494 12,667 149,757 614,141 
 2007 .......... 235,399 159,119 4,071 1,605 11,105 37,071 11,691 8,408 156,637 625,106 
 
 
  
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 
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Table III-1B 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Other Local Tax Revenues by Source, Governmental Funds  
Fiscal Years 1998 – 2007 
(Amounts in Thousands) 

 
 
 Fiscal Year Sales Consumer’s Business Motor  Restaurant 
 Ended and Use Utility License Vehicle Cigarette Food 
 June 30 Taxes Taxes Taxes Licenses Taxes Taxes Other Total 
  
 1998 .............  $21,023 $33,853 $14,818 $3,112 $4,507 $15,003 $14,183 $106,499 
 1999 .............  22,602 33,189 15,932 3,308 4,918 15,677 15,586 111,212 
 2000 .............  24,321 34,224 18,095 3,391 3,940 17,066 18,070 119,107 
 2001 .............  25,496 38,988 18,352 3,479 4,122 18,759 17,341 126,537 
 2002 .............  25,267 37,922 18,644 3,554 4,280 19,288 18,307 127,262 
 2003 .............  25,854 37,930 18,472 3,462 4,220 21,680 21,229 132,847 
 2004 .............  27,867 39,231 20,279 3,456 7,639 21,808 20,395 140,675 
 2005 .............  29,497 39,371 22,015 2,605 6,948 22,550 27,491 150,477 
 2006 .............  30,652 43,337 24,412 3,576 6,819 27,277 21,543 157,616 
 2007 .............  32,402 42,586 25,268 3,529 6,957 28,578 19,799 159,119 
  
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 
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 Table III-2 sets forth the assessed value of all taxable property in the City for the past ten fiscal 
years.  The total assessed value of all taxable property in the City at June 30, 2007, was approximately 
$17.3 billion.  The estimated assessed value of tax-exempt properties owned by federal and 
Commonwealth governments, churches and schools, among others, was approximately $9.4 billion for 
fiscal year 2007, and is presented in Table III-3. 
 

Table III-2 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Assessed Valuations and Estimated 
Actual Values of Taxable Property 

(In Thousands) 
Fiscal Years 1998 - 2007 

 
 

 Fiscal Year      
 Ended Real Personal Other Total Taxable Estimated Actual 
 June 30 Property (1) Property (1) Property (2) Assessed Value Taxable Value (3) 
  
 1998 .............  $7,619,379 $848,103 $200,879 $8,668,361 $14,673,363 
 1999 .............  7,934,397 900,076 219,963 9,054,436  15,145,054 
 2000 .............  8,098,113 1,023,626 203,300 9,325,039 15,668,692 
 2001 .............  8,458,281 1,040,929 228,874 9,728,084 16,119,540 
 2002 .............  8,882,064 1,102,983 219,845 10,204,892 16,794,801 
 2003 .............  9,356,760 1,085,027 300,481 10,742,268 17,864,127 
 2004 .............  10,029,639 1,170,117 283,544 11,483,300 19,406,095 
 2005 .............  10,960,812 1,167,673 310,519 12,439,004 21,576,347 
 2006 .............  12,691,527 1,324,320 316,471 14,332,318 25,196,622 
 2007 .............  15,607,512 1,488,338 210,431 17,306,281 29,424,339 
 
 
 
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 
 
Note: (1) Real property and personal property includes both general and public service corporations. 
 (2) Other property includes machinery and tools, mobile homes, airplanes and boats. 
 (3) Estimated actual taxable property values are based on data supplied by the City’s Commissioner of Revenue and 

the City Assessor.  Property value information does not include property of public service corporations or vacant 
land. 



 

28 

 
Table III-3 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Estimated Value of Nontaxable Real Property (1) 

Fiscal Years 2003 - 2007 
(In Thousands) 

 
 

Property Owned By 
 

    Norfolk Redevelopment Commonwealth All Other 
 Fiscal Federal Government  City of Norfolk  and Housing Authority  of Virginia   Organizations (2)   Total  
 Year            
 Ended Assessed Estimated Assessed Estimated Assessed Estimated Assessed Estimated Assessed Estimated Assessed Estimated 
 June 30    Value  Tax Value  Value  Tax Value  Value  Tax Value  Value  Tax Value  Value  Tax Value  Value  Tax Value 
 
 2003 ....  $3,668,046 $51,353 $1,488,049 $20,833 $392,020 $5,488 $638,036 $8,933 $1,199,413 $16,792 $7,385,564 $103,399 
 
 2004 ....  4,116,089 57,625 1,494,691 20,926 382,610 5,357 689,933 9,659 1,241,480 17,381 7,924,803 110,948 
 
 2005 ....  4,138,358 57,937 1,706,337 23,889 392,982 5,502 711,361 9,957 1,350,116 18,902 8,299,155 116,188 
 
 2006 ....  4,581,576 61,851 1,718,375 23,198 465,660 6,286 769,584 10,389 1,439,067 19,427 8,974,261 121,153 
 
 2007 ....  4,672,997 59,347 1,837,974 23,342 513,373 6,520 814,505 10,344 1,539,360 19,550 9,378,209 119,103 
  
Sources: Annual Reports of the City Assessor 2003 - 2007. 
 
Notes: (1) The assessed value was 100% of fair market value.  The fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, estimated tax value is at a rate of $1.27 per $100 of estimated assessed value. 
 (2) All other organizations include religious organizations, charitable organizations, private universities, Virginia Port Authority, Elizabeth River Tunnel Commission, 

Hampton Roads Sanitation District and Eastern Virginia Medical Authority. 
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 Table III-4 presents the property tax rate per $100 of assessed value and the equalization ratios used 
to determine the fair market value of taxable property for the past five fiscal years ended June 30. 

 

Table III-4 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Tax Rates and Equalization Factors 
Fiscal Years 2004 - 2008 

    Fiscal Year Ended June 30  
   2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Property tax rate per $100 assessed value: 
 Real property ...............................................  $ 1.40 $ 1.40 $ 1.35  $1.27  $1.11 
 Business Improvement District ...................   0.18  0.18  0.18  0.18  0.18 
 Personal property ........................................   4.00  4.00  4.00  4.00  4.25 
 Machinery and tools ....................................   4.00  4.00  4.00  4.00  4.25 
 Mobile homes ..............................................   1.40  1.40  1.35  1.27  1.11 
 Airplanes .....................................................   2.40  2.40  2.40  2.40  2.40 
 Boats (business) ..........................................   1.50  1.50  1.50  1.50  1.50 
 Boats (pleasure)...........................................   0.01  0.01  0.01  0.01  0.50 
 Recreational vehicles ..................................   1.50  1.50  1.50  1.50  1.50 
 Disabled veterans ........................................   3.00  3.00  3.00  3.00  3.00 
Assessed value of real property as a percent 
  of fair market value: 
 As determined by the City Assessor............   100%  100%  100%  100%  100% 
 As determined by the Commonwealth’s 
 Department of Taxation (1) (2)  ......................   74%  76%  --  --  -- 
  
Source: City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Notes: (1) The most recent Virginia Assessment/Sales Ratio Study is for 2005. 
 (2) The real property and personal property assessments for public service corporations are based on information 

furnished to the Commissioner of the Revenue by the State Corporation Commission and the 
Commonwealth’s Department of Taxation for calendar years 2003 through 2007. 

  
 The City has the power to levy taxes on property located within its boundaries for payment of its 
obligations without limitation as to rate or amount.  Rates are established by the City Council.  Table III-5 
sets forth the City’s assessed values and tax levies on real and personal property for each of the past five 
fiscal years ended June 30. 
 

Table III-5 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Assessed Valuation and Change in Property Tax Levy 
Fiscal Years 2003 – 2007 

(In Thousands) 
   
   Assessed Valuation  Percentage 
 Fiscal Year  Personal  Increase in 
 Ended  Real   Property   Property  Property  
 June 30  Property   & Other   Tax Levy  Tax Levy 
 
 2003 ..................   $  9,356,760  $1,385,508     $179,220  4.35% 
 2004 ..................   10,029,639  1,453,661       191,397  6.79 
 2005 ..................   10,960,812  1,478,192       209,202  9.30 
 2006 ..................   12,691,527  1,640,791       227,796  8.89 
 2007 ..................   15,607,512  1,698,769       254,703  11.81 
  
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 
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 Table III-6 sets forth information concerning the City’s real and personal property tax collection rate for fiscal years ended June 30, 1998 
through 2007. 

 
Table III-6 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Real and Personal Property Tax Levies and Collections (1) 

Fiscal Years 1998 – 2007 
(In Thousands) 

 
 
 

Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30 Total Tax Levy 

Percent of Current 
Collections 

Current 
Collections 

Delinquent 
Collections 

Total Collections 
to Tax Levy 

Percentage of Total 
Tax Collections to 

Tax Levy 
1998 $144,794 $134,889   93.16% $10,727 $145,616    100.57%
1999 150,747 136,668 90.66  11,068 147,736  98.00
2000 158,268 145,772 92.10  14,865 160,637 101.50
2001 164,289 151,921 92.47  13,501 165,422 100.69
2002 171,755 158,914 92.52  12,883 171,797 100.02
2003 179,220 164,482 91.78  18,724 183,206 102.22
2004 191,397 178,200 93.10  15,821 194,021 101.37
2005 209,202 191,254 91.42   8,549 199,803  95.51
2006 227,796 203,804 89.47   8,526 212,330  93.21
2007 254,703 239,288 93.95 10,097 249,385  97.91

 
  
 
  
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 
 
Note: (1)   Delinquent tax collections are reported in the year collected. 
 



 

31 

 Table III-7 sets forth the City’s ten largest taxpayers and the assessed value of real property owned 
by each such taxpayer during fiscal year 2007.  The aggregate assessed value of the ten largest taxpayers 
represented 5.59% of the City’s total assessable base at June 30, 2007. 
 

Table III-7 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Ten Principal Real Property Taxpayers (1) 
June 30, 2007 

    Percentage 
    of Total 
   Real Property Real Property 
  Taxpayer  Type of Business Assessed Value Assessed Value 
 
MacArthur Shopping Center LLC (Taubman Co.) Retail $164,793,100  1.06% 
Virginia Power Co. Public Service Utility 140,314,736  0.90 
Verizon Virginia, Inc. Public Service Utility  114,147,696  0.73 
Bank of America Bank    81,573,800  0.52 
Ford Motor Company  Truck Manufacturer   81,445,000  0.52 
Norfolk Southern Corporation Railroad   77,775,444  0.50 
Military Circle Ltd. Partnership Shopping Center   63,475,500  0.41 
Dominion Tower Ltd. Partnership Real Estate   54,220,500  0.35 
Cox Virginia Telecom Public Service Utility    49,858,200    0.32 
Norfolk Hotel Association (Marriott) Service   44,688,400    0.29 
 Total Principal Taxpayers   $872,292,376    5.59% 
  
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 

Notes: (1)  Total assessed value of taxable real property including public service corporations at June 30, 2007 was 
$15,607,511,904. 

 (2) The Ford Motor Company, Inc. closed its Norfolk assembly plant in June 2007. 
 
 

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 
 
Costs of General City Government 
 
 The costs of most general government functions are paid from governmental funds.  These costs 
include expenditures for police protection, fire and paramedical services, public health and social 
services, planning and zoning management, code enforcement, street maintenance, traffic control, parks 
and cemeteries operation and maintenance, recreation and library services, economic development, solid 
waste disposal and general administrative services.  Table III-8 presents the number of positions budgeted 
for employees (including salaries and related employee benefits such as health insurance and pension 
contributions). 
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Table III-8 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Budgeted Positions 
Fiscal Years 2004 - 2008 

 
 Fiscal Year Number of 
 Ended June 30 Budgeted Positions 

(1)
 

 2004 ...............................  3,929 
 2005 ...............................  3,934 
 2006 ...............................  3,969 
 2007 ...............................  4,079 
 2008 ...............................  4,090 
________ 
Sources: Approved Operating Budgets, Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2004 through 2008. 

Note:  (1) Figures shown represent the number of permanent and permanent part-time General Fund positions, exclusive of 
School Board positions. 

 
Protected Self-Insurance Program 
 
 The City is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  On July 11, 1978, the City 
established a protected Self-Insurance Program Fund, pursuant to an ordinance adopted by the City 
Council, to cover itself from these risks of losses.  The program provides for the payment of claims 
liabilities, property losses and related expenses covered by a combination of purchased insurance policies 
and self-insurance plans.  The total of insurance premiums, self-insurance claims and related expense 
payments made during fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 was $7,466,244. 
 
 The City currently reports all these activities as part of the risk management function in the general 
government section of the General Fund.  Claims expenditures and liabilities are reported when it is 
probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. 
 
 At June 30, 2007, these liabilities were $25,066,660 of which $5,222,145 represents the current 
portion anticipated to be paid within a year.  Estimated liabilities, as determined by an actuary, are 
reported at their present value, using the expected future investment yield assumption of five percent. 
 
 The City has designated $5,740,162 of fund balance in its General Fund to provide for risks of loss 
and claims payments that may not be fully covered by purchased insurance or annual budget 
appropriations.  There have not been any significant reductions in insurance coverage, and settled claims 
have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  In February 2008 the City appropriated 
$4.9 million of the Risk Management designation to partially fund a $7.5 million personal injury liability 
settlement.  The current estimated balance in the General Fund for risks of loss and claims as of June 30, 
2008, is $840,162. 
 
 The School Board also participates in the program and its projected present value assuming a 
discount rate of five percent liability at June 30, 2007 was $1,712,585.  It also provides payments for its 
risks of loss through a combination of purchased insurance policies and self-insurance plans.  These 
losses are funded through the Public Schools operating budgets and/or the City’s fund balance 
designation. 
 
Retirement Plan 
 
 The City has a single-employer noncontributory, defined benefit retirement plan that covers 
substantially all employees of the City, excluding School Board and Constitutional Officers employees 
who are covered by the Virginia Retirement System.  The City’s contribution requirements are designed 
to fund the plan’s current service cost.  Actuarially required contributions are appropriated each year by 
City Council. 
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 Total annual pension contributions for all City employees over the last three years to the City’s 
noncontributory retirement are presented in Table III-9. 
 

Table III-9 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Schedule of Annual Pension Contributions 
Fiscal Years 2005 - 2007 (1) 

 Fiscal Year Annual Pension 
 Ended June 30  Contribution 
 

2005 ..........................................................   $23,652,756 
2006 ..........................................................   25,728,228 
2007 ..........................................................   25,135,944 

  
Source:  Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 

Note:  (1) Actuarially required Pension Contributions are funded and paid in the Fiscal Year following the contribution 
determination. 

 
Other Post-Employment Benefits 
 
 In June 2004, the Government Accounting Standard Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 45, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions, 
which the City of Norfolk will be required to implement with respect to its financial statements for 
fiscal year 2008.  GASB 45 establishes new standards as to how the City must account for and report 
the costs of its OPEB - health insurance, life insurance, and other non-pension benefits provided to its 
retirees. 
 
 GASB 45 requires that the City and Schools recognize the costs of their OPEB during the period 
of their employee's active employment, while the benefits are being earned, and disclose their unfunded 
actuarial accrued liability in order to accurately report the total future cost of post-employment benefits 
and the financial impact on the City.  These GASB 45 requirements are very similar to those for 
pension benefits. 
 
 The following steps have been taken to date, in preparation for the implementation of GASB 45: 
 

- The City and Schools have completed an actuarial valuation; 
 

- In fiscal year 2008 the City reserved $1,898,253 in excess of the existing pay as you go 
contributions; and 

 
- Over time the City and the Schools plan to consider gradually increasing contributions to a trust 

or making annual pay as you go payments until the annual actuarial required contribution is fully 
funded. 

 
As of June 30, 2008 the following is projected: 

City Schools Total
Actuarial Accrued Liability as of 6/30/2007 36,351,000$      59,584,000$      95,935,000$      

Actuarial Required Contribution for FY 2008 5,407,000$        4,817,000$        10,224,000$      
Estimated Pay Go Contribution and Explicit Subsidies (2,255,000)$       (2,561,000)$       (4,816,000)$       
FY 2008 Contributions to Trust in Excess of Pay Go -$                   -$                   -$                   
Difference 3,152,000$        2,256,000$        5,408,000$        
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Employee Relations and Collective Bargaining 
 
 The Supreme Court of Virginia has ruled that in the absence of legislation, municipalities and school 
boards in Virginia do not have the authority to enter into collective bargaining agreements. 

 
PUBLISHED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 
 The City issues and distributes a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report on its financial operations 
for each fiscal year.  The City also publishes annually an Operating Budget and a five-year Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) Budget.  These documents are available via the internet at 
www.norfolk.gov.  In addition, the City will undertake to provide or cause to be provided certain Annual 
Financial Information described in the section “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” to fulfill the 
requirements of the Rule promulgated by the SEC. 

 
GENERAL FUND OPERATING BUDGET RESULTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2007 

 
 On the budgetary basis of accounting, General Fund revenues were $786,967,333 representing 
101.5% of budgeted revenue.  General Fund expenditures were $774,520,571 representing 99.9% of 
budgeted expenditures.  Table III-10 summarizes key financial results. 
 

Table III-10 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

General Fund Operating Budget Summary Results 
for the Fiscal Year 2007 

 
 
  Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Percent Variance 
  2007 2007 of Positive 
  Final Budget Results Budget (Negative) 
Total Revenue and non- 
 revenue receipts ............  $    775,029,824  $    786,967,333   101.5 % $   11,937,509 
Total Expenditures ...................  $ 775,029,824  $    774,520,571    99.9 % $        509,253 
 
Revenue greater (less) 
 than expenditures ..........  $       ----          $      12,446,762  --- $   12,446,762 
    
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 
 
General Fund Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2009 
 
 The fiscal year 2009 General Fund Operating Budget was adopted on May 22, 2008, and totals 
$827,280,300 reflecting a 4.0% increase over the adopted Fiscal Year 2008 General Fund Operating 
Budget of $795,835,700.  Real estate tax revenues, the largest general property tax source, are 
estimated to grow by approximately 7.1% in fiscal year 2009 over the previous year.  The real estate tax 
rate remained at $1.11 per $100 of assessed value.  Hotel tax revenues are expected to be approximately 
$6.85 million and admission taxes are projected to grow 6% over the previous fiscal year to $4,450,000.  
Revenues from the Commonwealth of Virginia, mostly for education are anticipated to grow 3.1% or 
$10 million.  The budget anticipates carrying over $3 million of the General Fund balance from fiscal 
year 2008 to fiscal year 2009 as part of the operating budget. 
 
 The budget focuses on targeted priorities including education, public safety and neighborhood 
revitalization.  Major revenue and expenditure categories are summarized in the following tables. 
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Table III-11 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

General Fund Budget 
Fiscal Year 2009 

 
 Anticipated Revenue Receipts Approved Budget Appropriations For Expenditures Approved Budget 
 
 General Property Taxes ....................................  $ 250,017,800  Legislative ............................................................  $    4,653,800 
 Other Local Taxes ............................................  158,925,500 Executive ..............................................................  6,117,700 
 Permits and Fees ...............................................  4,124,300 Department of Law ...............................................  3,930,200 
 Fines and Forfeitures ........................................  1,635,000 Constitutional Officers .........................................  5,139,100 
 Use of Money and Property ..............................  10,958,000 General Management ...........................................  33,239,100 
 Charges for Services…………………………..  24,032,700 Judicial .................................................................  45,614,200 
 Miscellaneous Revenue ....................................  4,036,600 Office of Elections ................................................  612,300 
 Non-Categorical Aid - Virginia ........................  33,861,800 Community Development ....................................  7,049,400 
 Shared Expenses ...............................................  22,000,000 Parks, Recreation and Cultural .............................  42,605,300 
 Categorical Aid - Virginia ................................  282,037,300 Public Health and Assistance ...............................  66,727,100 
 Federal Aid .......................................................  6,291,500 Public Safety ........................................................  99,697,200 
 Recovered Costs ...............................................   9,648,300 Public Works ........................................................  42,906,400 
 Other Sources and Transfers in ........................  19,711,500 Debt Service .........................................................  77,829,200 

 Education ..............................................................  330,190,900 
 Non-Departmental Appropriations .......................  60,968,400 

 
 
 
 
 TOTAL .............................................................  $ 827,280,300  TOTAL .................................................................  $ 827,280,300 
 
________ 
Source: Approved Operating Budget for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2009. 
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Table III-12 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

General Governmental Expenditures by Function  
Fiscal Years 1998 - 2007 

(In Thousands) 
 

 
 
 

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

June 30  

 
 
 

General 
Government 

Administration 

 
 
 
 

Judicial 
Administration 

 
 
 
 

Public 
Safety 

 
 
 
 

Public 
Works 

 
 
 

Health  
and Public 
Assistance 

 
 
 
 
 

Education 

 
 
 

Culture 
and 

Recreation 

 
 
 
 

Community 
Development 

 
 
 
 

Debt 
Service 

 
 
 

Inter-
Govern-
mental 

 
 
 
 

Capital 
Outlay 

 
 
 
 
 

Total 
             

1998 $43,942 $8,336 $91,001 $29,475 $60,788 $75,446 $38,750 $16,970 $49,587 $   8,203 $37,296 $459,794 
1999 42,499 8,046 94,113 34,153 64,993 82,039 46,186 19,627 45,685    6,923 35,263 479,527 
2000 50,770 8,969 96,542 36,792 72,609 79,033 45,088 22,970 48,399    5,950 17,912 485,034 
2001 50,671 7,987 101,523 36,817 56,967 80,883 46,032 22,549 51,121    7,807 27,488 489,845 
2002 44,126 8,790 115,912 56,124 61,601 83,883 40,849 16,945 48,637    7,932 30,516 515,315 
2003 64,639 9,280 123,202 57,162 68,140 88,854 40,149 17,673 48,448    8,061 37,770 563,378 
2004 76,127 35,603 94,979 80,613 76,221 90,020 40,081   8,048 49,551    6,140 45,026 602,409 
2005 67,434 38,110 102,278 64,497 83,451 91,865 40,290 12,716 65,468 -- 85,144 651,253 
2006 92,062 41,795 105,634 46,959 91,535 92,595 42,995 13,552 56,462 -- 91,632 675,221 
2007 102,031 45,173 108,565 49,161 93,397 97,595 46,397 11,158 54,789 -- 94,595 702,861 

  
  
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2007. 
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RESULTS OF FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 
 
 A comparative balance sheet at June 30, 2007 and 2006 extracted from the June 30, 2007 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the General Fund is presented in Table III-13.  The 
Comparative Statement of Revenue and Expenditures for the City’s General Fund for the past five fiscal 
years are presented in Table III-14.  The City’s most recent General Fund statements of changes in fund 
balances for the past five fiscal years are summarized in Table III-15. 

Table III-13 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Balance Sheet, General Fund  
June 30, 2007 with comparative totals for 2006 

 
         
ASSETS    2006  2007  
 Cash and cash equivalents .....................................................  $ 51,622,665  $   64,939,509 
 Receivables, net:  
  Taxes ...............................................................................   32,469,995  60,097,267 
  Accounts .........................................................................   1,860,949  1,751,147 
  Notes ...............................................................................   91,586  70,039 
  Accrued investment income ...........................................   535,398  578,138 
 Due from other funds .............................................................   7,135,658  4,078,974 
 Receivable from other governments ......................................   31,244,227  6,247,095 
 Deposit Contractors ...............................................................   ---  200,000 
   Total assets ..............................................................  $ 124,960,478  $  137,962,169 

LIABILITIES 
 Vouchers/Accounts Payable ..................................................  $ 7,408,293  $      9,055,225 
 Employee withholdings .........................................................   675,807  702,930 
 Accrued payroll......................................................................   4,069,898  3,918,780 
 Due to other funds ..................................................................   2,951,509  1,663,068 
 Due to component units .........................................................   ---  28 
 Deferred revenue ....................................................................   24,833,977  30,750,087 
 Other liabilities ......................................................................          2,344,662          3,592,630 
  Total liabilities ....................................................  ...........  $ 42,284,146  $    49,682,748 

FUND BALANCES 
  Reserved for: 
  Encumbrances .................................................................  $ 15,377,058  $    16,602,919 
  Retirees, life insurance ....................................................   680,000  620,000 
   
  Unreserved, reported in: 
  General Fund – Designated future expenditures .............   $   30,217,662  $    32,305,011 
   General Fund - Undesignated .........................................   36,401,612  38,751,491 
   Total fund balances .........................................................   82,676,332  88,279,421 
  Total liabilities and fund balances ..................................  $ 124,960,478    $  137,962,169 
 
  
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2007 and June 30, 2006.
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Table III-14 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Comparative Statement of Revenue and Expenditures, General Fund (1) 
Fiscal Years 2003 – 2007 

 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
REVENUE:
   General property taxes 168,892,719$     178,360,554$     192,894,904$     210,595,835$      233,112,1 75$     
   Other local taxes 128,453,471     135,913,691     141,510,674      148,336,907     149,792,6 83     
   Permits and  licenses 2,972,611           3,204,071           3,541,516           4,088,238           4,071,0 84           
   Fines and forfeitures 1,569,454         1,626,731         1,763,078          1,461,418         1,568,8 16         
   Use  of money and pro perty 6,785,960         6,314,660         7,154,235          7,069,758         7,220,3 87         
   Charges for services 11,642,327         12,449,529         14,829,244         16,877,536         18,083,4 78         
   Miscellaneo us 5,032,482         4,505,314         5,196,567          5,925,598         4,100,3 16         
   Recovered costs 9,556,223           12,296,915         14,187,852         12,666,645         8,337,3 97           
   Inte rgovernmental 102,846,522     129,148,556     113,534,988      117,797,242     125,574,8 11     
          Total R evenue 437,751,769$     483,820,021$     494,613,058$     524,819,177$      551,861,1 47$     
EXPENDITU RES:
   General government 46,919,852$      64,390,732$      65,578,006$      88,834,205$       101,191,1 23$    
   Judic ial ad ministration 7,345,727           35,260,950         37,456,654         40,889,147         44,115,1 43         
   Public safety 116,996,697     86,236,346       91,464,166        93,709,757       96,884,6 19       
   Public works 43,680,181         67,255,473         50,256,206         34,276,568         36,775,6 54         
   Hea lth and public a ssistance 49,758,505       58,326,033       61,696,267        65,666,065       65,364,9 55       
   Culture and Recreation 31,959,153         31,858,823         32,108,630         32,833,720         37,332,0 38         
   Ed ucation 88,853,663       90,020,000       91,864,910        92,594,910       97,594,9 10       
   Community development 17,672,800       8,048,376         7,125,756          6,468,840         6,182,5 79         
          Total Expenditures 403,186,578$     441,396,733$     437,550,595$     455,273,212$      485,441,0 21$     
   Excess of (deficiency) revenue over exp enditures 34,565,191         42,423,288         57,062,463         69,545,965         66,420,1 26         
Other financing sources (uses):
   Proceed s from sale of land 29,046$              342,076$            -$                        -$                         -$                        
   Proceed s of capital leases 7,503,072           4,430,252           4,701,516           4,828,468           -                          
   Cap ita l contributions 410,715            -                         -                         -                        -                        
   Transfers in 10,044,504       10,449,842       11,103,036        11,835,850       11,824,6 28       
   Transfers out (62,412,483)        (58,553,596)        (63,365,438)        (71,712,560)        (72,641,6 65)        
          Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (44,425,146)        (43,331,426)        (47,560,886)        (55,048,242)        (60,817,0 37)        
Spec ial Items:
   Write off of uncollectible FEM A Grant -                        -                         (3,113,624)         -                        -                        

Tota l Other Financing Sources (Uses) and Special
Items

(44,425,146)        (43,331,426)        (50,674,510)        (55,048,242)        (60,817,0 37)        

  
Net Change  in Fund Balance (9,859,955)$        (908,138)$            6,387,953$         14,497,723$        5,603,0 89$         

Fiscal Year Ended June 3 0

______ 
Sources:   Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2003 through June 30, 2007. 
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Table III-15 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Comparative Statement of Changes in Fund Balance, General Fund 

Fiscal Years 2003 - 2007 
 

 
  
Sources: Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2003 through 2007. 
 
Note: (1)   This figures exclude the Tax Increment Fund, which was reclassified as a special revenue fund beginning in FY 2005. 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Net Change in Fund Balance  $       (9,859,955)  $          (908,138)  $        6,387,953  $      14,497,723 $        5,603,089 

Fund balance at beginning of year 67,966,507 58,106,522 61,790,626 (1) 68,178,579 82,676,302

    Adjustment to beginning balance -                        4,901,561 -                        -                        -                        

Fund Balance at end of year 58,106,522$      62,099,945$      68,178,579$      82,676,302$      88,279,391$      

Fiscal Year Ended June 30
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PART IV 
ENTERPRISE FUNDS 

 
WATER UTILITY FUND 

 
Overview 
 
 The City-owned water system (the “Water System”), operated by its Department of Utilities, is one 
of the largest municipal water systems in the Commonwealth.  The approximately 800,000 people served 
by the Water System are distributed throughout the City, the Naval bases in the Cities of Norfolk and 
Virginia Beach, and residents of the Cities of Virginia Beach and Chesapeake.  A Naval base in the City 
of Portsmouth is provided raw water service.  The distribution of average metered consumption in the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, is shown in Table IV-1. 

 
Table IV-1 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Water System 

Average Metered Consumption by Customer 
Fiscal Year 2007 

 
 

  Metered Percent 
 Customer Consumption (MGD) of Total 
 
 Norfolk 18.10 27.30% 
 Virginia Beach 35.50 53.55 
 U.S. Navy 4.67 7.05 
 Chesapeake            8.02                                          12.10 
  66.29 100.00% 
  
Source: Department of Utilities. 
 
 As of June 30, 2007, the Water System had 65,700 active accounts.  The average annual daily 
amount of finished water pumped for fiscal year 2007 was 66.65 mgd (million gallons per day).  Average 
day production includes approximately 3.95 mgd of unaccounted for water such as losses, water used for 
fire protection and the flushing of water mains.  For fiscal year 2006, the System's unaccounted for water 
level was approximately 5.8% which is within the American Water Works Association acceptable levels. 
 
 Prior to fiscal year 1998, Virginia Beach’s water use was restricted due to concerns about exceeding 
the safe yield of the Water System’s sources.  Due to its rapid population growth since the 1950s, 
combined with recurring water shortages, Virginia Beach constructed a 76 mile pipeline from Lake 
Gaston in Brunswick County, Virginia to the Water System through which raw water from Lake Gaston 
is conveyed, treated by Norfolk and then delivered to Virginia Beach.  With the completion of the Lake 
Gaston Pipeline in fiscal year 1998, the conservation restrictions on Virginia Beach’s water use have been 
lifted, except in times of drought. 
 
Wholesale Contracts  
 

A significant portion of the Water System’s revenue is derived from wholesaling water to the 
Cities of Virginia Beach, Portsmouth, and Chesapeake and the U.S. Navy.  The City has wholesale 
contracts with the U.S. Navy and Virginia Beach.  In the absence of a wholesale contract, the City of 
Chesapeake purchases treated water from the City at an equivalent Norfolk retail rate.  If a wholesale 
contract between the City of Chesapeake and the City is executed, the City anticipates the City of 
Chesapeake will continue to purchase treated water from the City at retail rates.  The City also has 
executed a contract with the City of Chesapeake and began delivering 7 mgd of raw water in fiscal year 
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2006.  In addition, the City has a contract with Virginia Beach for wheeling and treating Lake Gaston 
water and a contract with Portsmouth for the sale of emergency raw water. 
 
Financial Management 
 

On July 1, 1979, the City Council established the Water Utility Fund as a distinct enterprise fund 
to account for all of the financial activity related to providing water services to its customers.  Since its 
inception, the Fund has operated on a self-supporting basis. 
 

Historically, regular annual transfers have been made from the Water Utility Fund to the City’s 
General Fund for payments-in-lieu of taxes and as a return on the City’s investment in the Water 
System.  Additionally, transfers have been made to pay all debt service on general obligation bonds 
issued by the City prior to the creation of the water revenue bond program in 1993 to pay for Water 
System improvements.  The City intends to pay for all future Water System capital costs from revenue 
of the Water System and proceeds of water revenue bonds.  The Water Utility Fund is reported on an 
accrual basis of accounting. 
 
 City general obligation debt issued to finance water utility projects is carried as a liability on the 
Water Utility Fund balance sheet.  The Water Utility Fund provides the funds for debt service on such 
bonds. 
 
Water Rates  
 
 Retail rates are set by City Council.  Effective in Fiscal Year 2004, the City Council established 
retail rates as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year Retail Rate 
  
2008 $3.50 per 100 cubic feet 
2009 $3.61 per 100 cubic feet 
Thereafter 3.5% annual increases each July 1 

 
 U.S. Navy and Chesapeake wholesale rate revisions for inclusion in City Ordinances are approved 
by City Council.  Virginia Beach formula driven biennial wholesale rate revisions are not submitted for 
City Council approval.  In order to encourage conservation, the current rate structure is a uniform rate per 
thousand gallons, with no quantity discount.  Retail customers are charged a monthly service charge. 
 
 

WASTEWATER UTILITY FUND 
 

 The City owns and operates a sanitary sewer system (Sewer System) which collects and conveys 
wastewater to the regional processing agency, the Hampton Roads Sanitation District.  Approximately 
63,000 accounts located within the City are served.  Since July 1, 1983, the Wastewater Utility Fund has 
been operated as an enterprise fund. 
 
 
 As of June 30, 2007: 
 
 Approximate population served  65,700  accounts 
 Total wastewater pumping stations 127 pump stations 
 
 Miles of gravity wastewater mains 816  miles 
 Miles of wastewater force mains 63  miles 
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 City general obligation debt issued to finance wastewater utility projects is carried as a liability on 
the Wastewater Utility Fund balance sheet.  The Wastewater Utility Fund provides the funds for debt 
service on such bonds. 
 
 Each customer using the City sanitary sewer system is charged at a rate based on the flow through an 
effluent meter.  In the absence of an effluent meter, the water meter flow is used.  Rates are set by City 
Council.  Effective in Fiscal Year 2005, the City Council established retail rates as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year Retail Rate 
  
2008 $2.78 per 100 cubic feet 
2009 $2.89 per 100 cubic feet 
Thereafter 4% annual increases each July 1 

 
 
  

PARKING FACILITIES FUND 
 

The City presently owns and operates 14 multi-level parking garages, 14 surface lots and 600 on-
street spaces.  These facilities provide a total inventory of over 19,000 downtown parking spaces. 

 
The Parking Facilities Fund was established in fiscal year 1991.  City general obligation debt issued 

to finance Parking Facilities Fund projects is carried as a liability on the Parking Facilities Fund's balance 
sheet.  The Division of Parking provides the funds for debt service on such bonds.  The Parking Facilities 
Fund balance sheet on June 30, 2007, presents total assets of $155,833,766 which includes restricted 
investments of over $5.3 million to be utilized for garage construction and required master indenture 
reserves.  In addition, fixed assets, including parking structures, consist of over $130 million of the total 
$155.8 million in assets.  The Parking Facilities Fund also manages parking enforcement operations and 
collects fines and delinquent fees.  The annual volume of parking tickets is approximately 82,070.  In 
fiscal year 2007, 82,070 tickets were issued resulting in 77% collection rate and revenue of $2,282,917. 

 
Transfers have been made from the Parking Facilities Fund to the Debt Service Fund to pay all debt 

service on general obligation bonds issued by the City to pay for Parking System improvements.  
Revenue of the Parking System has fully covered debt service on general obligation bonds issued for the 
Parking System. 

 
In March 2008 the City executed a Master Development Agreement (the “Wachovia Center MDA”) 

with a developer for the development of the Wachovia Center.  The Wachovia Center is a mixed-use 
privately financed project composed of a high rise Class A office tower and an adjacent retail 
development.  The Wachovia Center project represents a combined investment and expansion of the 
downtown area of $170 million.  Construction on the project began in April 2008.  The Wachovia Center 
MDA requires the City to finance the design, construction and equipping of a parking garage under the 
office tower and a central public parking garage to serve the entire Wachovia Center project.  The City 
has estimated that the design, construction and equipping of the parking garages will cost $53,438,000.  
The City expects to issue Parking Revenue Bonds to finance the cost.  

 
The City also entered into a Master Development Agreement (Conference Center MDA) with a 

developer for the construction of a privately financed hotel adjoining a parking garage and conference 
center.  The Conference Center MDA requires the City to finance the design, construction and equipping 
of the parking garage (among other things).  The projected budget for the parking garage is approximately 
$22 million of which $18.5 million the City expects to finance through the issuance of Parking Revenue 
Bonds.  Construction on the project is expected to begin in the spring of 2009.  Should the developer 
present final budgets and plans that are not acceptable to the City, the City has the right to cancel the 
Conference Center MDA. 

 
To pay the debt service on the Parking Revenue Bonds, City management plans to ask City Council 

to adopt increases in various parking rates and fines to become effective in mid-year 2009 or the 
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beginning of 2010.  Should City Council determine not to raise the parking rates and fines, City 
management anticipates paying the debt service on the Parking Revenue Bonds from the City's General 
Fund or issuing general obligation bonds the debt service on which will be paid from the City's General 
Fund. 
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PART V 
THE CITY OF NORFOLK 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
 
 The City of Norfolk was established as a town in 1682, as a borough in 1736 and incorporated as a 
city in 1845.  The City lies at the mouth of the James and Elizabeth Rivers and the Chesapeake Bay, and 
is adjacent to the Atlantic Ocean and the cities of Virginia Beach, Portsmouth and Chesapeake. 
 

Table V-1 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Area of City 
 

 Year Square Miles 
  
 1950 ....................................................  37.19 
 1960 ....................................................  61.85 
 1970 ....................................................  61.85 
 1980 ....................................................  65.75 
 1990 ....................................................  65.98 
 2000 ....................................................  65.98 
 2008 ....................................................  65.98 
 
 

CITY GOVERNMENT 
 

Norfolk is an independent, full-service City with sole local government taxing power within its 
boundaries.  It derives its governing authority from a charter (the "Charter"), originally adopted by the 
General Assembly of Virginia (The “General Assembly”) in 1918, which authorizes a council-manager 
form of government.  The City Council exercises all of the governmental powers conferred upon the City.  
Having sought and gained approval from the U.S. Justice Department and the General Assembly, the City 
gave its citizens the right to elect their Mayor directly, effective May 2006.  Previously the City's Mayor 
had been chosen by the City Council from among its members.  This change added an eighth member to 
the City Council, with the Mayor elected at large, and retains the current seven wards with two members 
elected from super wards.  The City Council elects a Vice Mayor from among its members.  Among the 
City officials appointed by the City Council is the City Manager, the administrative head of the municipal 
government.  The City Manager carries out its policies, directs business procedures and appoints, with the 
power to remove, the heads of departments and other employees of the City except those otherwise 
specifically covered by statutory provisions.  The City Council also appoints certain boards, commissions 
and authorities of the City. 
 
Certain Elected Officials 
 
 The City's current elected officials include: 
 
 Paul D. Fraim, Mayor 
 
 In May 2006 Mayor Fraim became the City’s first popularly elected mayor in nine decades.  Mayor 
Fraim is a 20-year incumbent on City Council, and was first elected Mayor by his peers in 1994.  He is 
the president of the law firm Fraim & Fiorella, P.C., and was first elected to City Council in 1986.  He has 
a Bachelor of Arts degree from Virginia Military Institute, Lexington, Virginia, and a Masters in 
Education degree from the University of Virginia, Charlottesville, Virginia.  He received his law degree 
from the University of Richmond, Richmond, Virginia.  Mayor Fraim is an active member of the Virginia 
State Bar, the Virginia Bar Association and the Norfolk-Portsmouth Bar Association and has held a 
number of leadership positions in these organizations. 
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 Anthony L. Burfoot, Vice Mayor 
 
 Mr. Burfoot, representing Ward 3, was first elected to City Council in July 2002.  He is employed by 
New York Life as a licensed Life and Annuities Health Agent.  Additionally, he is an adjunct faculty 
member at Tidewater Community College.  He received a Bachelor of Science degree in Public 
Administration and a Master's degree in Educational and Administrative Supervision from Virginia State 
University, Petersburg, Virginia.  He is involved in many civic and business activities.  
 
 Daun S. Hester, Council Member 
 
 Mrs. Hester, representing Super Ward 7, was first elected to City Council in July 1996.  Mrs. Hester 
is currently a consultant with Hester, Hester & Associates, Ltd.  She received a Bachelor of Science 
degree from Virginia State University, Petersburg, Virginia, and a Master of Arts degree in Education and 
Human Development from The George Washington University, Washington, D.C.  Mrs. Hester is active 
in many local professional organizations. 
 
 Paul R. Riddick, Council Member 
  
 Mr. Riddick, representing Ward 4, was first elected to City Council in July 1992.  He is the owner 
and operator of Riddick Funeral Service.  He attended Norfolk State University, Norfolk, Virginia, and 
has an Associates in Art and Sciences degree in Funeral Service from John Tyler Community College, 
Chester, Virginia.  Mr. Riddick is active in many local professional organizations. 
 
 Dr. Theresa W. Whibley, Council Member 
 
 Dr. Whibley, representing Ward 2, was first elected to City Council in July 2006.  She is an 
obstetrician and gynecologist in private practice at Woman Care Centers, PLC in Norfolk.  Dr. Whibley is 
a graduate of Eastern Virginia Medical School, Jones Institute of Reproductive Medicine, Norfolk, 
Virginia, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, Virginia and the College of William and Mary, 
Williamsburg, Virginia.  Dr. Whibley is active in many local professional organizations. 
 
 Donald L. Williams, Council Member 
 
 Mr. Williams, representing Ward 1, was first elected to City Council in July 2002.  Prior to running 
for Council, Mr. Williams served as a delegate in the Virginia House of Delegates from 1998 through 
2001.  He is currently president of the Hampton Roads Housing Center.  He attended Old Dominion 
University, Norfolk, Virginia and obtained a real estate broker's license in 1983.  Mr. Williams is active in 
many civic and business activities. 
 
 Barclay C. Winn, Council Member 
 
 Mr. Winn, representing Super Ward 6, was first elected to City Council in July 2000.  He is the 
Chief Executive Officer of Winn Nursery of Virginia, Inc.  He received a Bachelor of Science degree 
from North Carolina State University, Raleigh, North Carolina.  Mr. Winn is active in many civic and 
business activities. 
 
 W. Randy Wright, Council Member 
 
 Mr. Wright, representing Ward 5, was first elected to City Council in July 1992.  He is the owner of 
Randy Wright Printing and Publishing.  He is involved in many civic and business activities. 
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Certain Appointed Officials * 
 
 Regina V.K. Williams, City Manager 
 
 Regina V.K. Williams assumed the post of Norfolk City Manager in January 1999.  Her 
responsibilities include the supervision of the administrative operations of the City and the preparation of 
its annual budget.  She served as City Manager for the City of San Jose, California for five years and 
previously served as Assistant City Manager for five years.  Prior to serving in San Jose, Mrs. Williams 
was Deputy City Manager and Chief of Staff for the City of Richmond, Virginia.  In 1982, Mrs. Williams 
was appointed by then Virginia Governor Charles Robb as the first female and first African American to 
be State Director of Personnel and Training.  In 1991, she was inducted as a fellow into the National 
Academy of Public Administration (NAPA).  In 1988, Mrs. Williams was elected as Vice-President of the 
Board of Directors for the International City-County Management Association (ICMA).  She was 
awarded the designation of manager of the year in September 2002 by ICMA.  Mrs. Williams also served 
as the President of the National Forum of Black Public Administrators in 1995-96 and is a founder and 
former President of the Richmond, Virginia Chapter of the Conference of Minority Public Administrators.  
She earned her Bachelor of Science degree from Eastern Michigan University, Ypsilanti, Michigan, and a 
Masters degree in Public Administration from Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia. 
 
 Steven G. de Mik, Director of Finance and Business Services 
 
 Steven G. de Mik commenced his tenure as Director of Finance on September 1, 2000 and Director 
of Finance and Business Services on July 1, 2005.  At the direction of the City Manager, he is responsible 
for identifying strategic opportunities for the City in the policy areas of taxation, financial management 
and fiscal policy development and instruction.  In addition, he is responsible for the administration of the 
financial affairs of the City which include cash management and investments, debt management, financial 
accounting and reporting, procurement, risk management, retiree benefits, parking facilities and 
operations, facility maintenance and the City’s fleet operations.  Mr. de Mik came to the City from Knox 
County, Tennessee, where he served as the Deputy Director of Finance and Administration.  His other 
work experiences include service with the State of Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury and Chipman 
and McMurray, Certified Public Accountants.  Mr. de Mik earned a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Accounting and Business Administration from Southwest Baptist University, Bolivar, Missouri.  He is 
also a licensed Certified Public Accountant.  Mr. de Mik submitted his resignation, effective June 20, 
2008, to accept the position of Chief Finance Officer for the Hampton Roads Sanitation District (HRSD). 
 
 Alice M. Kelly, Acting Director of Finance and Business Services 
 
 Alice M. Kelly commences her tenure as Acting Director of Finance on June 23, 2008.  At the 
direction of the City Manager, she will be responsible for identifying strategic opportunities for the City 
in the policy areas of taxation, financial management and fiscal policy development and instruction.  In 
addition, she will be responsible for the administration of the financial affairs of the City which include 
cash management and investments, debt management, financial accounting and reporting, procurement, 
risk management, retiree benefits.  Ms. Kelly has worked for the City since April 1990 in various 
capacities and departments including Utilities, Finance and Public Works.  Her most recent position with 
the City has been Assistant Director of Public Works, a position she held from November 2002 to June 
2008.  Ms. Kelly earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from Virginia Polytechnic Institute 
and State University (Virginia Tech), Blacksburg, Virginia.  She is a licensed Certified Public 
Accountant.  Ms. Kelly has served as Chairman of the Board of the Norfolk Municipal Employee Federal 
Credit Union since April 2008 and, prior to being elected to that position, served as Treasurer on the 
Board since 1998. 
 
 
* This subsection has been amended since the date of the Preliminary Official Statement.
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 Bernard A. Pishko, City Attorney 
 
 Bernard A. Pishko was first appointed by City Council as City Attorney in November 1997.  He 
previously served as Deputy City Attorney from 1989 to 1997 and as an Assistant City Attorney from 
1984 to 1989.  He has practiced law since 1982.  The City Attorney is also general counsel for the 
Norfolk School Board, Norfolk Recreational Facilities Authority, Norfolk Community Services Board, 
Hospital Authority of Norfolk, Norfolk Municipal Employees’ Retirement System, Norfolk Electoral 
Board, Civil Service Commission and The Chrysler Museum of Art.  Mr. Pishko is a member of many 
professional associations and community organizations.  He received his undergraduate degree from 
Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island, a Masters degree in Business Administration from the 
College of William and Mary, Williamsburg, Virginia, and a law degree from the Marshall-Wythe School 
of Law, Williamsburg, Virginia. 
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Governmental Services and Facilities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 In Virginia, cities and counties are not overlapping units of government.  Each city or county is a 
distinct political entity providing services for the population within its respective jurisdiction.  The City of 
Norfolk provides a comprehensive range of public services characteristic of its form of government under 
Virginia law.  These services are designed to provide an environment within which the educational, 
physical, social and cultural needs of its citizens are met.  These general governmental services include 
police protection, fire and paramedical services, public health and social services, planning and zoning 
management, code enforcement, storm water management, street maintenance, traffic control, parks and 
cemeteries operation and maintenance, recreation and library services, economic development, solid 
waste disposal and general administrative services.  In addition, water and wastewater utilities and 
parking facilities services are provided under an enterprise fund concept with user-charges set by City 
Council. 
 

Other Governmental Entities 
 
School Board of the City of Norfolk 
 
 The seven members of the School Board of the City of Norfolk (the “School Board”) are appointed 
by the City Council.  The School Board is a corporate body and in its corporate capacity is vested with all 
of the duties, obligations and responsibilities imposed upon school boards by law.  The City Council is 
required to appropriate annually to the School Board the amount needed for the support of the public 
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schools in maintaining educational programs which meet the standards of quality prescribed by law.  
Categorical aid from the Commonwealth of Virginia and the federal government designated for 
educational purposes is included in the City’s General Fund budgetary revenue.  This categorical aid, plus 
monies derived from local sources, provides the funds for the major share of the School Board’s 
operations.  On an ongoing basis, the City also issues debt to finance needed capital projects of the school 
system. 
 
 The School Board presently operates thirty-five (35) elementary schools, nine (9) middle schools, 
five (5) high schools and several auxiliary schools, including alternative, magnet and specialty programs.  
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, the School Board’s expenditures for education totaled 
$368,841,788. 
 
Norfolk Airport Authority 
 
 The Norfolk Airport Authority, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth, was created to operate 
an airport and to promote industrial growth and consists of both an Airport Fund and an Investment Fund.  
The Airport Fund was established by the Authority to account for the operations of the Norfolk 
International Airport (the “Airport”).  Revenue generated by airport operations is used to meet all 
operating expenses and to provide for payment of all principal and interest on debt of the Authority 
related to the Airport.  The Investment Fund was established by the Authority to provide for certain 
airport capital improvements. 
 
 The Authority finances individual capital projects by issuing bonds or obtaining loans and 
intergovernmental grants in its own name and concurrently entering into leases which provide for 
payment of all principal and interest on the related obligations as they become due.  Revenue includes 
rental income on non-airport property owned by the Authority and interest on investments. 
 
 The Authority’s Commissioners are appointed by City Council, but the Commission designates its 
own management and has oversight responsibility for its own fiscal matters.  The City does not provide 
funds for the operations of the Authority, and pursuant to Section 144(q) of the City Charter, the 
Authority is required to submit its annual budget to the City Council for the purposes of information only.  
The City of Norfolk has the option to reacquire, without consideration, title to all property and equipment 
after payment by the Authority of all obligations relating to the improvements at the Airport. 
 
Hampton Roads Regional Jail Authority 
 

The Hampton Roads Regional Jail Authority (HRRJA) is a regional organization which includes the 
cities of Hampton, Newport News, Norfolk and Portsmouth, created for the purpose of providing, 
operating and maintaining a regional jail facility for the correctional overflow from each community.  
HRRJA is a primary government, with no component units, that is a body politic and corporate created 
pursuant to Article 3.1, Chapter 3, Title 53.1 of the Code of Virginia, as amended, and is governed by a 
twelve member Board of Directors, consisting of three representatives appointed by each of the member 
cities.  The budgeting and financing of HRRJA are subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, with 
each individual having a single vote.  HRRJA is responsible for its own financial matters, maintains its 
own books of account and is audited annually by independent accountants that it engages. 
 

The regional jail facility (the “Jail”), which opened in March 1998, consists of approximately 
385,518 square feet of building area, including three housing building units, a support building and a 
central plant.  The Jail holds 875 inmates of which 250 are designated to the City.  The City is responsible 
for 28.57% of the total operating cost less the revenue derived from the Virginia Compensation Board and 
the per diem reimbursement from the Commonwealth for the housing of state inmates. 
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The Southeastern Public Service Authority of Virginia 
 
 The Southeastern Public Service Authority (SPSA) is a joint venture of the cities of Chesapeake, 
Franklin, Norfolk, Portsmouth, Suffolk and Virginia Beach and the counties of Isle of Wight and 
Southampton, created for the purpose of providing, operating and maintaining a regional system for the 
collection, transfer, processing and disposal of solid waste refuse.  SPSA is a primary government, with 
no component units, that is a public body politic and corporate created pursuant to the Virginia Water and 
Sewer Authorities Act, and is governed by an eight-member Board of Directors, consisting of a 
representative appointed by each of the member cities and counties.  Budgeting and financing of SPSA is 
subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, with each individual having a single vote.  The 
Authority is responsible for its own financial matters, maintains its own books of account and is audited 
annually by independent accountants that it engages. 
 
 The regional system includes a refuse-derived fuel plant and a fuel delivery system, located on 
federally-owned land in the City of Portsmouth, as well as solid waste transfer stations in each of the 
member jurisdictions, a landfill, rolling stock and ancillary facilities, and an extensive recycling program 
which collects recyclable waste products from single-family homes and at drop-off centers. 
 
Transportation District Commission 
 
 Hampton Roads Transit was created on October 1, 1999, with the consolidation of the Tidewater 
Regional Transit (“TRT”) and Peninsula Transportation District Commission (“PENTRAN”).  It is 
believed to be the first voluntary merger of public transit agencies in the nation.  The district continues to 
be a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, formed as a joint exercise of governmental 
power in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 32 of Title 15.2 of the Virginia Code.  The District 
provides public transportation facilities and services within Cities of Norfolk, Chesapeake, Hampton, 
Newport News, Portsmouth, Suffolk and Virginia Beach. 
 
 The Hampton Roads (formerly Tidewater) Transportation District Commission, a political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, was formed on May 9, 1973, as a joint exercise of 
governmental power in accordance with provisions of Chapter 32 of Title 15.1 of the Virginia Code. 
 

Table V-2 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Contributions to Hampton Roads Transportation District Commission 
Fiscal Years 2004-2008 

  
Fiscal Year Contributions

2004 $   3,002,003 
2005 3,021,200 
2006 4,559,463 
2007 5,960,949 
2008 7,047,624 

  
 
______ 
Sources: Approved Operating Budgets, Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2004 through June 30, 2008. 
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Hospital Authority of Norfolk 
 
 The Hospital Authority of Norfolk (the “HAN”), which has a nine-member Board of Commissioners 
appointed by City Council, is a tax-exempt, not-for-profit political subdivision of the Commonwealth 
created pursuant to an Agreement of Transfer dated July 1, 1988.  The HAN operates Lake Taylor 
Hospital as a long-term care facility licensed by the Virginia State Health Department to provide a 
continuum of patient care ranging from sub-acute hospital services to skilled nursing care. 
 
Norfolk Redevelopment and Housing Authority 
 
 The Norfolk Redevelopment and Housing Authority (“NRHA”), a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth, was created by the City on July 30, 1940, under the provisions of the United States 
Housing Act of 1937.  The NRHA provides subsidized public housing and administers redevelopment 
and conservation efforts within the City in accordance with state and federal legislation.  The seven 
members of the Board of Commissioners are appointed by City Council.  The NRHA is responsible, 
through a contract with the City, for the administration of such activities as community development, and 
urban renewal.  The NRHA develops its operating budget without approval from the City Council and 
executes contracts on its own behalf.  The City does not exercise a significant degree of oversight 
responsibility for the NRHA, as it is responsible for designating its own management, developing its own 
operating budget and executing major contracts on its own behalf.  The NRHA is responsible for its own 
fiscal matters as it maintains its own books of account, is audited annually by independent accountants it 
engages, and has authority over earnings, deficits and monies other than City contract funds.  The City 
contracts with NRHA to complete specific projects, generally capital improvement projects. 
 
 



 

52 

ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC FACTORS 
 

Population 
 
 As reflected in the Table V-3 below, from 1970 to 2002, the population of the City declined; a fact 
which can be attributed in part to the clearance and redevelopment of blighted areas and to a reduction 
in the birth rate.  More recently published population statistics suggest the City’s population has now 
stabilized.  The City is the second most populous city in Virginia, as shown in Table V-4. 

 
Table V-3 

Population Trend Comparisons  
1960-2007 

 
Hampton Roads 

 Year Norfolk (3) MSA (1) (3) Virginia (4) U.S. (4) 

 1960 ...................... 305,872 881,600  3,954,429 179,323,175 
 1970 ...................... 307,951 1,058,764 (2) 4,468,479 203,211,926 
 1980 ...................... 266,979 1,160,311 

(2) 5,346,279 226,504,825 
 1990 ...................... 261,250 1,430,974  6,189,197 249,632,692 
 2000 ...................... 234,403 1,533,739  7,078,515 281,421,906 
 2001 ...................... 234,000 1,567,300  7,190,468 285,112,030 
 2002 ...................... 233,600  1,574,500  7,281,659 287,888,021 
 2003 ...................... 233,900 1,583,900   7,370,557 290,447,644 

 2004 ...................... 235,200  1,605,900  7,464,033 293,191,511 
 2005 ...................... 235,071 1,615,415   7,557,588 295,895,897 
 2006 ...................... 234,219 1,619,600   7,640,249 298,754,819 
 2007 ...................... 235,987 1,630,621   7,712,091 301,621,157 

  
Sources: Various Reports of the Bureau of the Census and the Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service, University of 

Virginia. 

Notes: (1) Until March 1993, the Hampton Roads MSA consisted of the Virginia localities of Norfolk, 
Chesapeake, Hampton, Newport News, Poquoson, Portsmouth, Suffolk, Virginia Beach, 
Williamsburg, Gloucester County, James City County, and York County.  In March 1993, Mathews 
County and Isle of Wight County, Virginia, and Currituck County, North Carolina were added to the 
Hampton Roads MSA. 

 (2) Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service, University of Virginia, is the source for the 1970 and 
the 1980 MSA Population. 

 (3) For years 2001-2007, population estimates are from the Weldon Cooper Center for Public 
Service, University of Virginia. 

 (4) For years 2001-2007, U.S. and Virginia population estimates are from the U.S. Census Bureau. 
 

Table V-4 
Five Most Populous Cities in Virginia 

 
  2000 Census 2007 Population 
 City Population Estimate  
 
 Virginia Beach ....................................................................  425,257 433,033 
 Norfolk ................................................................................  234,403 235,987 
 Chesapeake .........................................................................  199,184 216,568 
 Richmond ............................................................................  197,790 195,300 
 Newport News ....................................................................  180,697 182,478 
  
Source: Bureau of the Census and the Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service, University of Virginia. 
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 Table V-5 provides an annual comparison of per capita personal income since 1997. 
 

Table V-5 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Per Capita Personal Income Comparisons 
1997-2006 

 
 

Year 
 

City 
Hampton Roads

MSA State U.S. 
1997  20,361  22,838  26,307  25,334 
1998  21,406  24,026  27,780  26,883 
1999  22,131  24,912  29,226  27,939 
2000  23,523  26,360  31,083  29,845 
2001  24,767  27,767  32,511  30,574 
2002  25,346  28,784  33,033  30,821 
2003  26,672  30,057  34,001  31,504 
2004  28,114  31,540  35,841  33,123 
2005  30,162  33,259  37,968  34,757 
2006  31,459  34,858  39,540  36,714 

  
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, Regional Economic Information System, 2008. 
 
 
 The age distribution of the City’s population is presented in Table V-6. 

 
Table V-6 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
City Population Distribution by Age 

1960-2000 
 
 Year Population Under 20 20-64 65 or Older 
 
 1960 ................  305,872  39.8 %  54.5 %  5.7 % 
 1970 ................  307,951  35.4   57.8   6.8 
 1980 ................  266,979  30.7   60.1   9.2 
 1990 ................  261,250  28.1   61.4   10.5 
 2000 ................  234,403  27.3   61.5   11.2 
  
________  
Source: Various Reports of the Bureau of the Census. 
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Housing and Construction Availability 

 
 Table V-7 provides an annual breakdown of residential building permits over the past 10 fiscal 
years. 
 
 

Table V-7 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Residential Construction 
Fiscal Years 1998 - 2007 

 
 Fiscal Building Number Value 
 Year Permits of Units (in thousands)  
  
 1998 ..................................  192 282  $  24,263 
 1999 ..................................  174 241  21,872 
 2000 ..................................  189 310  38,739 
 2001 ..................................  185 401  35,109 
 2002 ..................................  290 462  44,498 
 2003 ..................................  287 609  61,790 
 2004 ..................................  506 766  83,525 
 2005 ..................................  560 1,191  204,391 
 2006 ..................................  531 1,058  133,053 
 2007 ..................................  389 491  684,756 
 
  
Source: Permit Tracking System, Department of Planning, City of Norfolk. 
 
 Table V-8 presents annual nonresidential construction, which includes commercial buildings, public 
buildings, schools, public utility buildings and miscellaneous structures. 
 

Table V-8 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Nonresidential Construction 
Fiscal Years 1998 - 2007 

 
 Fiscal Building Value  
 Year Permits (in thousands) 
  
 1998 .........................................................  54  $  79,500 
 1999 .........................................................  46  52,932 
 2000 .........................................................  45  138,472 
 2001 .........................................................  35  62,046 
 2002 .........................................................  53  51,451 
 2003 .........................................................  35  24,084 
 2004 .........................................................  59  134,197 
 2005 .........................................................  70  70,677 
 2006 .........................................................  60  165,989 
 2007 .........................................................  55  81,396 
  
Source: Permit Tracking System, Department of Planning, City of Norfolk. 
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Employment 
 
 Businesses in the City provide residents with employment opportunities in a variety of industries 
of which services, government and trade are the most significant.   
 
 The unemployment rate for the City is illustrated in Table V-9. 
 
 

Table V-9 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Unemployment Rates 
1998 – 2007 

 
 
 

Norfolk 
Hampton 

Roads MSA Virginia U.S. 
1998  5.2%  3.4%  2.8%  4.5% 
1999  5.0  3.2  2.7  4.2 
2000  3.3  2.5  2.3  4.0 
2001  4.3  3.3  3.2  4.7 
2002  5.5  4.2  4.2  5.8 
2003  5.7  4.3  4.1  6.0 
2004  5.5  4.1  3.7  5.5 
2005  5.4  4.0  3.5  5.1 
2006  4.1  3.3  3.0  4.6 
2007  4.1  3.2  3.0  4.6 

 
  
Source: Virginia Employment Commission. 

 
 

Table V-10 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Civilian Employment and Average Weekly Gross Wages 
3rdQuarter, 2007 

 
 

Category 
Number of 

Establishments 
Number of 
Employees 

 
Average Weekly 

Gross Wage 

Percentage
of 

Employment 
Construction 472 6,293 $  820        8.30% 
Manufacturing 166 7,475 1,539        2.92 
Trade, Transportation & Utilities 1,406 29,947 843      24.71 
Information 118 3,708 989        2.07 
Financial Activities 636 9,481 841      11.18 
Professional & Business Services 979 20,622 983      17.21 
Education and Health Services 617 35,428 711      10.85 
Leisure and Hospitality 598 13,207 322      10.51 
Other Services 620 3,930 522      10.90 
Public Administration 74 12,254 1,176        1.30 
Natural Resources & Mining          3           12        455        0.05 
Total 5,689 142,359 $  836    100.00% 

 
  
Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.  Virginia Employment Commission, Quarterly Census of Employment & Wages        

Program. 
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Economic Development 
 
 Economic development initiatives are focused on the attraction, expansion and retention of 
businesses, neighborhood and community revitalization and commercial corridor development.  Some of 
the City-lead initiatives to stimulate commercial revitalization include:  Tax Abatement Program; Federal 
Empowerment and HUB Zones; State Enterprise Zones; Small Area Aesthetic Matching Grant Program; 
Aesthetic Improvement Grant Pool; Pedestrian Commercial Overlay Zones; Tax and Grant Benefits; 
Concentrated Development Zone Incentives; public infrastructures; and amenities. 
 
Downtown Development 
 
 Downtown offers a mix of cultural attractions and entertainment for its citizens and tourists.  
Resulting from the coordinated efforts of the City, downtown property assessed value increased 69.43% 
from fiscal year ended June 30, 2000 to fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. 
 
 The current average vacancy rate for Downtown Class A office space is below 10%, as shown in 
Table V-11 below. 
 

Table V-11 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

Downtown Norfolk Vacancy 
January 2008 

 
Class A Rentable SF Vacant SF % Vacant 
150 West Main Street 226,183 5,745    2.54% 
Crown Center 62,000 -    0.00 
Dominion Tower 403,276 33,620   8.34 
Main Street Tower 200,000 17,351   8.68 
Norfolk Southern Tower 301,463 -    0.00 
Town Point Center 130,266 7,404   5.68 
World Trade Center 366,941 57,996 15.81 

TOTAL 1,690,129 122,116       7.23% 
  
Source:   CoStar, January 2008. 
 
 Bank presence along Main Street includes Bank of America, BB&T, Monarch, Old Point National, 
RBC Centura, SunTrust, TowneBank and Wachovia.  Bank of Hampton Roads, Heritage, Bank of the 
Commonwealth and several credit unions are also downtown. 
 
 Wachovia Center, a $170 million dollar office, retail and residential development broke ground in 
May 2008 on Monticello Avenue adjacent to MacArthur Center, Scope and Chrysler Hall.  This city 
block development features a 22-story Class A office tower, which is 70% leased.  The project will also 
include 50,000 square feet of retail shops, 162 apartments and 1,850 parking spaces in two garages to be 
built by the City. 
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Residential Development 
 
 Neighborhood revitalization is one of the City’s core initiatives and part of the economic 
development plan.  By increasing the diversity of housing opportunities, the City expects to increase the 
diversity of its citizenry and expand the tax base.  The City's goal for neighborhood and commercial 
development is to provide an environment that will increase private sector investment, retail sales 
generation and corresponding municipal revenue generation, create a framework for targeted and 
coordinated public and private investment and build upon and coordinate with other ongoing community 
development initiatives. 
 
Residential investment continues to grow throughout the City.  Several mixed-use offerings now being 
occupied Downtown include:  Harbor Heights, a $57 million investment, 99 lofts, with a first floor retail 
grocery, integral parking and two floors of administrative space for Tidewater Community College; St. 
Paul’s Place is complete with 90 condos alongside the MacArthur Center bringing a mix of historic 
façade to traditional condos (The Flats) and industrial lofts along St. Paul’s Boulevard (The Lofts); and 
The Rotunda, a signature round building adjacent to St. Paul's Place into 66 condominiums ranging in 
price from $250,000 to $1.2 million.  In addition to this there are 94 condominium units at 388 Boush 
Street, an upscale community representing a $26 million project wrapping a City parking.  The 20-unit, 
$25 million, Franklin Condominiums are also now available.  This project further moved downtown 
redevelopment across Brambleton Avenue.  The Belmont at Freemason, will contain 241 apartments in 
two buildings and a garage with 531 parking spaces at Brambleton and Bute Streets with an estimated 
value of $45 million. 
 
Residential development also continues to grow in areas beyond Downtown Norfolk.  In Larchmont, 
located on the west side of Norfolk, The Landings at Bolling Square, a 184 condominium unit 
development estimated at $60 million, has recently been completed.  Other residential development 
includes 12 new brick town homes on Church Street.  These three to four bedroom units are priced 
between $165,000 and $225,000.  Plans have been announced for The River House, a $32 million, 194-
unit luxury apartment community on Haven Creek at the Granby Street Bridge.  When completed, it will 
strengthen the Riverview commercial corridor and boost prospects for development of adjoining property 
in this vital area situated between two desirable and historic neighborhoods.  Site work has begun on the 
SouthWind Apartments, a $15 million development in Denby Park on a former trailer park.  Additional 
investment along Newport Avenue includes an $80 million townhouse/condominium project. 
 
The seven-mile stretch of beaches on the Chesapeake Bay known as Ocean View experienced 
redevelopment over the past decade.  More than 200 new homes have been built in Ocean View with an 
average value of $250,000.  The East Beach section of Ocean View will have 700 housing units with 
prices ranging from $200,000 to over $1.5 million.  A portion of the homes are currently occupied with 
the remainder of the development on track for completion by 2010.  Lot sales total over $37 million 
dollars, and the developers’ final payment on the $8.5 million land purchase will be made this year – two 
years ahead of schedule.  Another project moving forward on East Ocean View Avenue is the Bay Village 
Senior Condominiums, a $15 million development and the first housing exclusively for seniors in Ocean 
View. 
 
Broad Creek is a $200 million new community near Norfolk State University with 600 mixed-income 
homes.  In Broad Creek, the region’s first mixed-use, mixed-income community, construction is complete 
on 400 rental units and 70 homes.  During 2008, construction on Broad Creek Village, a mixed-use 
residential and retail development is expected to begin followed by Broad Creek’s final phase of 200 
mixed-income residential units north of Princess Anne Road. 
 
The City is also redeveloping the Fort Norfolk area, which is a 30-acre urban waterfront area linking 
Downtown Norfolk to the region’s medical complex and Ghent community.  In the Fort Norfolk section 
of Downtown Norfolk, the City’s first retirement community, known as Harbour’s Edge, opened in 
September 2006 and the second phase is currently being planned.  Fort Norfolk Plaza, across Brambleton 
from the medical complex that includes Sentara Norfolk General Hospital and Eastern Virginia Medical 
School, is a $66 million, 9-story medical office tower.  The project is expected to also include a jazz 
club/restaurant, retail shops and a parking garage. 



 

58 

 
Arts and Culture 

 
 Norfolk offers a mix of cultural attractions and entertainment for its citizens and tourists.  Recently, 
investments in this segment include restoring three live performance theatres, the construction of a cruise 
terminal building and upgrades to civic venues.   Norfolk is home to the Chrysler Museum of Art, 
Virginia Arts Festival, Virginia Ballet, Virginia Opera, Virginia Stage Company and Virginia Symphony.  
Norfolk’s entertainment and theatre venues include the Attucks Theatre, the Harrison Opera House, 
Chrysler Museum, and the “Theater District” which includes Chrysler Hall, Jeanne and George Roper 
Theater, Wells Theatre and the NorVa. 
 

Cruise Norfolk 
 
 The 80,000 square foot Half Moone Cruise & Celebration Center opened in spring 2007.  The cruise 
terminal, Norfolk's newest and most unique waterfront attraction, is located in the harbor between Town 
Point Park and Nauticus/Battleship Wisconsin.  Norfolk is a homeport for Royal Caribbean International 
and Carnival ships, which provide regular service to Bermuda, the Bahamas and the Caribbean.  During 
the 2006 – 2007 cruise season, 73,000 cruise ship passengers traveled from Norfolk.  Norfolk was 
selected by Porthole Cruise Magazine with the “2008 Editor-in-Chief Award” naming Norfolk "Best Up-
and-Coming U.S. Homeport“ and was also selected as one of the American Public Works Association’s 
Public Works Project of the Year for 2008.  The terminal received its name Half Moone from a fort that 
was built on the same site in 1673 in the form of a “half moone”. 
 

Norfolk Airport Authority 
 
 Norfolk is served by American, Continental, Delta, Northwest, Southwest, United Express and US 
Airways.  In 2007, 3.7 million passengers used Norfolk International Airport, a 0.29% increase over 
2006.  In addition, over 70 million pounds of cargo flowed through the airport.  In Norfolk, service has 
remained stable over the past two years, with an average of 95 daily departures. 
 

Hotel Development 
 
 The City continues to be a national leader in hotel performance with growth in hotel occupancy 
rates.  Currently there are several hotels under construction or proposed in Downtown Norfolk.  A $73 
million, 301 room, hotel is planned to be built adjacent to a new city conference center at the corner of 
Granby and Main Streets.  This 23-story building will include residential condos above the hotel as well 
as integrated parking.  A nine-story, 160-room Residence Inn by Marriott broke ground in November 
2007 on Brambleton between Duke and Boush Streets.  A 15-story Hampton Inn & Suites is planned in 
the 100 block of West Brambleton Avenue. 
 

Waterfront Recreation Investment 
 
Over $17 million of overall investment has been made recently along Norfolk’s waterfronts.  Town Point 
Park, located downtown along the Elizabeth River, brings thousands of visitors downtown annually and 
generates both tax and parking revenue for the City.  Visitors spending in the Park exceeded $27 million 
dollars in 2007, most of it from out of town guests who come downtown to the many festivals and 
programs that take place there every year.  In September 2008, construction is expected to begin on the 
first renovation in its 25 year history.  In Ocean View, adjacent to the East Beach slated retail area called 
“Little Annapolis” is the Taylor’s Landing Boatel Marina, a $10 million private investment bringing 500 
new recreational boat slips to the area.  This marina complex is being expanded to include retail boat 
showrooms, a boat repair facility, condominiums and restaurant and retail offerings.  East Beach, located 
on the Chesapeake Bay, was named one of the top restored beaches in America by the American Shore 
and Beach Preservation Association due in part to the investment of $2.5 million dollars in beach erosion 
funds, 
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Sports and Recreation 

 
 Norfolk has several waterfronts with the Chesapeake Bay on its North boundary and two major 
rivers within its boundaries.  The City has a public boat ramp in Willoughby Spit with access to the 
Chesapeake Bay, several other boat ramps and a rowing facility located in Lakewood Park.  There are 
also three golf courses located within the City. 
 
 Norfolk is home to the Norfolk Tides, (a AAA minor league baseball team), the Norfolk Admirals (a 
AHL hockey team) and hosts Arena Racing USA on an indoor track. 
 

Norfolk’s Educational Institutions 
 
 Available within the City are a wide variety of educational facilities including public elementary, 
middle and high schools, private and parochial schools, two universities, one college, one community 
college and a medical school. 
 
Public Schools 
 
 Norfolk public schools have a low pupil-teacher ratio with class sizes well below the national 
average.  Norfolk offers innovative public school programs, which include Early Childhood Education, a 
unique, comprehensive program for three and four-year-olds and their parents located in the public 
housing community of Diggs Town, at the Park Place/Colonial Place Community Center and at Ocean 
Air Elementary. 
 
 Approximately $90 million has been recently invested in Norfolk public schools facilities.  Facilities 
receiving renovations and new construction include Norview High School, Blair Middle School, Bay 
View Elementary, Granby High School, Taylor Elementary and the School of International Studies at 
Meadowbrook. 
 
 The City is home to the Governor’s Magnet School for the Arts, Virginia’s only magnet school for 
the arts, which offers classes in performing or visual arts to approximately 300 students from six cities 
and two counties.  The school system also has a program for gifted science students that enables them to 
study at Eastern Virginia Medical School. 
 
 The Broad Foundation awarded Norfolk public schools the "Nobel Prize" of education in 2006 
designating it as the Best Urban School District in the nation.  This is the third year in a row that Norfolk 
has been selected as one of five finalists for this prestigious award.  The Broad Prize is presented annually 
to an urban school district that has demonstrated considerable success in narrowing achievement gaps 
between groups of students while improving performance for all. 
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 Student population for the past five fiscal years is shown in Table V-12. 

 
Table V-12 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Public Schools Student Population 

Fiscal Years 2003 – 2007 
 

 
Fiscal Year 

September 30 
Membership 

 
Percent Change 

2003 34,349 -1.02% 
2004 34,030 -0.93
2005 34,445 1.28
2006 34,063 -1.12
2007 33,593 -1.38

  
Source:  Virginia Department of Education.  Superintendents Annual Report.  Table 1, Membership. 
 
Higher Education 
 
 Norfolk is home to five institutions of higher learning: Old Dominion University, Norfolk State 
University, Virginia Wesleyan College, Tidewater Community College and Eastern Virginia Medical 
School.  Old Dominion University (“ODU”) is one of only 100 public research universities nationwide, 
with a full and part-time enrollment of nearly 21,000 students.  Norfolk State University is Virginia’s 
largest public, historically black university and the seventh largest in the nation. 
 

Institutional Technology Parks 
 
 Old Dominion University – University Village.  ODU, in partnership with the City, the Norfolk 
Redevelopment and Housing Authority, and private developers, has initiated a large scale, mixed-use 
redevelopment project.  This redevelopment project, the University Village, will directly impact 75 acres 
(13 City blocks) and result in over $260 million in private and public investments.  The project includes 
student housing, retail, a convocation center, parking, research/office buildings, apartments and a hotel.  
The research park, named Innovations Research Park, is one of a few research parks in the country 
located on the campus of its research institution.  The second phase of the park is currently under 
construction. 
 
 
 Norfolk State University – The RISE Center.  The Research and Innovations to Support 
Empowerment (RISE) Center is located on the campus of Norfolk State University.  Designed to promote 
interaction between the university, the business sector and community and federal agencies in research 
and technology, the first phase of the Marie V. McDemmond Center for Applied Research houses 
classrooms, labs and offices for professors in areas such as materials research, engineering and 
computational science, as well as the office of research and technology. 
 

Norfolk’s Medical Institutions 
 
 Within the City, there are five general, acute care and specialized hospitals including Sentara 
Norfolk General Hospital, Sentara Leigh Hospital, Bon Secours DePaul Medical Center, Children’s 
Hospital of The King’s Daughters (“CHKD”) and Lake Taylor Transitional Care Hospital.  Sentara 
Norfolk General Hospital opened its new $100 million heart hospital in February 2006, a 112-bed, 
254,000 square feet center.  The heart hospital is leading the way for Sentara’s 2010 expansion plan for 
the medical complex.  Lake Taylor Transitional Care Hospital’s rehabilitation department was recently 
awarded with the “Better Health Award of 2008” by Old Dominion University’s College of Health 
Science department for their innovation of being the first rehabilitation department in the area to 
“Wiihabilitate.”  CHKD, the site of Virginia's only free-standing, full-service pediatric hospital, has 
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received permission to add 26 beds, bringing the hospital’s capacity to 212.  The expansion is expected to 
be completed by November 2010. 
 

The Virginia Port Authority 
 
 In 1981, the Virginia General Assembly passed landmark legislation designed to unify the ports in 
southeastern Virginia Hampton Roads harbor under a single agency, the Virginia Port Authority, with a 
single operating company, the Virginia International Terminals, Inc.  The Port of Virginia, one of the 
world’s largest natural deep-water harbors, is an integral part of Norfolk’s economy. 
 
 The Virginia Port Authority is one of the top three ports on the east coast in terms of total value of 
port trade.  Over 17.7 million tons of cargo shipped from the region’s three main marine cargo terminals 
in 2007.  The cargo volume shipped in 2007 increased by 6.9% over that of 2006.  As a result of the 
events of September 11th, concern for security risk has increased.  The Port of Virginia is one of the few 
U.S. Customs ports utilizing a computerized, truck-mounted gamma-ray machine to check containers’ 
density.  This technology allows monitors to ensure that the cargo being tested is what it is supposed to be 
and takes only six seconds per container. 

 
Table V-13 

Virginia Port Authority Terminals 
General Cargo Tonnage 

Calendar Years 2003 – 2007 
 

Calendar Year 
Total General Cargo 

Tonnage (000’s) 
Percent Change over 

Previous Year 
2003 13,984  9.0% 
2004 14,858 6.3 
2005 15,964 7.4 
2006 16,583 3.9 
2007 17,726 6.9 

  
  
Source: Virginia Port Authority. 
 
 Port-related business increases at the Virginia International Terminals drive new capital investment 
into the region.  By 2012, a 300-acre expansion of Norfolk International Terminal will be completed 
making it the largest inter-modal center in the United States.   
 

Business, Industry and Commerce 
 
 Several major companies are headquartered in Norfolk, including:  
 

• Norfolk Southern, a Fortune 500 company and one of the country's largest railroad 
operators; 

• Landmark Communications, one of the country's largest privately owned media 
companies with ownership of several daily newspapers, local TV stations, specialty 
publications, and The Weather Channel and weather.com; 

• Dominion Enterprises, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Landmark Communications, Inc., is 
a print and internet media group that includes numerous specialty publications and online 
classifieds; 

• FHC Health Systems, one of the top 250 largest private companies in the country, 
specializing in health care management, health services, and online medical reports; 

• CMA CGM (America), Inc., one of the world’s largest container transportation and 
shipping company; 

• Portfolio Recovery Associates, a firm whose primary business is the purchase, collection 
and management of defaulted customer receivables; and 
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• BlackHawk Products Group, which provides tactical gear such as holsters, body armor, 
and backpacks to the U.S. Defense Department and law enforcement agencies throughout 
the world. 

 
 Additionally, there are a large variety of industrial, commercial and service employers are located 
within the City.  Table V-14 presents data regarding the major non-government employers in the City. 
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Table V-14 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Major Non-Government Employers in 2nd Quarter 2007 

Company Number of Employees Product/Service 
 1,000+  
Sentara Healthcare  Health Care Network 
Children’s Hospital of the King’s Daughter  Health Care Facilities 
Medical College of Hampton Roads  Private College 
Ford Motor Company, Inc. (1)  Tuck Manufacturing and Assembly 
Norshipco  Shipbuilders and Repairers 
Bon Secours DePaul Medical Center  Health Care Facility 
Bank of America Card Services Corp.  Banking and Credit Card Service Center 
   
 500 – 999  
United Services Automobile Association  Insurance Support Center 
Wal-Mart  Retail 
Bank of America  Banking 
Maersk Line Limited  Shipping Company 
Portfolio Recovery Association  Financial Recovery Services 
Virginia International Terminal  Ports 
Landmark Communications, Inc.  Newspaper and Media 
Sentara Health Management  Healthcare Network 
The Titan Corporation  Communication System 
Farm Fresh  Retail 
ODU Research Foundation  Research 
American Funds Service Co  Financial Services 
Electronic Data Systems Corp  Systems Analysis and Design 
Dominion Enterprises  Electronic Media 
7-Eleven  Retail 
Tidewater Wholesale Grocery  Retail 
CooperVision Inc.  Contact Lens Manufacturing 
Virginia Wesleyan College  Education 
CP&O LLC  Port Services 
   
 250-499  
McDonald’s  Retail 
CMA-CGM (America), Inc.  Shipping Company 
Food Lion  Retail 
Personal-Touch Home Care, Inc.  Comprehensive Home Care Services 
Colonna’s Shipyard  Ship Builders and Repairers 
General Foam Plastics Corporation  Plastic Extractions 
Lake Taylor Transitional, Inc.  Health Services 
Office Team  Office Staffing Services 
Amer-Force Craft Services, Inc.  Craft Labor to the Marine and Industrial Sectors 
Metro Machine Corporation  Ship Builders and Repairers 
Transit Management Company  Transportation 

  
Source: Virginia Employment Commission.   
Notes: (1)  The Ford Motor Company, Inc. closed its Norfolk assembly plant in June 2007. 
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Table V-15 is a representation of selected business and residential growth or expansion for the period 
2007 - 2008. 

 
Table V-15 

City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Business Growth 

A Sampling of Business Activity in 2007-2008 
 

A SAMPLING OF 2007 - 2008 ACTIVITY 

COMPANY TYPE E/N C/D  Investment 
(mil)  

201 Twenty-One Mixed-use residential apartments & retail N D  $        40.00 
Bay Village Condominiums Senior only residences N D  $        15.00 
Belmont at Freemason Apartments N D  $        45.00 
Capital Group/American Funds Financial E D  $          8.00 
CMA CGM Americas Headquarters, shipping line E D  $          1.10 
Commander Corporate Center Second office building for spec N D  $        12.00 
Compass Youth Services 9,000 sf office/flex space E C  $          0.75 
Dominion Enterprises Headquarters – Class A office space E C  $        51.00 
East Beach Villas Mixed use retail / residential N A  n/a  
EVMS New Education and Research Building N A  $        59.00 
Fort Norfolk Plaza Mixed-use medical office, retail N D  $        66.00 
Ghent Station Mixed-use Class A office, retail N D  $        30.00 
Gold's Gym Building Rehabilitation and Reuse N C  $          8.00 
Grandy Village Renovation and market rate waterfront residential E D  $        35.00 
Hampton Inn Hotel N D  $        20.00 
Harbor Heights Mixed-use residential, grocery and TCC offices N C  $        38.00 
Kroc Center Community Center N A  $        84.00 
Lamberts Point Recreation Facility N D  $          7.60 
La Quinta Hotel N C  $          8.00 
New Cranes at NIT Arriving May 08 (3) N C  $        24.00 
NSU  Library  N A  $        79.00 
Old Dominion University Innovations Research Park II N D  $        22.50 
Old Dominion University Allocated from Governor's budget request N A  $        86.00 
Old Dominion University Book Store N C  $          8.50 
Old Dominion University Art galleries and parking deck N C  $        11.00 
P & P, LLC Office/flex (3rd building on site) E D  $          1.00 
Radisson Hotel New ownership making renovations E A  $          4.00 
Residence Inn by Marriott Extended-stay hotel N D  $        35.00 
Riverside Terrace / Westport Phasing townhouses and condominiums N D  $        80.00 
Sentara offices 48,000 sq ft office Poplar Halls  N D  $          9.00 
Sheraton Hotel Renovation E C  $        32.00 
SouthWind Apartment Community 120 apartments N D  $        15.00 
SpringHill Suites by Marriott Hotel N C  $        11.00 
TCC Student Center N A  $        17.60 
The Franklin Mixed-use upscale condominiums and professional offices N D  $        15.00 
The Market at Ghent Expansion to existing Farm Fresh store E D  $          3.00 
The River House Apartments 197 apartments N D  $        36.00 
The Tide Light Rail starter system N D  $       240.00 
Town Point Park renovations Public space major renovation E A  $        12.00 
U.S. Gypsum Manufactures building materials E C  $       132.00 
Village Center at Broad Creek Residential/retail N A  $        82.00 
Virginia Arts Festival Headquarters Offices and rehearsal studios N D  $          3.50 
Virginia Zoo Trail of the Tiger E D  $        12.00 
Wachovia Center Mixed-use Class A office, retail and residential N D  $       170.00 
Wal-Mart Neighborhood Grocery Renovation to old grocery store N D  $        30.00 
Westin Hotel & Conference Center Hotel & Conference Center N D  $       150.00 

  
Source:      City of Norfolk, Economic Development Department. 



 

65 

 
 

Military 
 
 The presence and role of the military in Norfolk remains a positive force and continues to have a 
significant impact on the local economy.  The City is the home of the world’s largest naval complex, with 
headquarters for Commander in Chief of U.S. Atlantic Command, NATO’s Supreme Allied Command 
Atlantic, Commander in Chief U.S. Atlantic Fleet and other major naval commands.  Hampton Roads is 
the largest center of Coast Guard units in the world with the Atlantic Area Command and Maritime 
Defense Zone Atlantic in Portsmouth and its Maintenance & Logistic Command Atlantic headquarters in 
downtown Norfolk. 
 
 The Navy’s direct economic impact on the region was $12.6 billion in 2007, comprised of a total 
annual payroll of $7.3 billion and the balance consumed on goods and services and procurement 
contracts.  The City expects to continue as a center of activity for the U.S. Navy with current total 
personnel (military and civilian) in excess of 79,000.  There were 83,906 active-duty Navy military 
personnel in Hampton Roads in 2006, of which 80% were assigned to Norfolk. 
 
 Although the military remains a key part of Hampton Roads’ economy, the region has successfully 
diversified its economy in recent years. 
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June __, 2008 
 
 
Mayor and Council of the 
  City of Norfolk, Virginia 
Norfolk, Virginia 

$153,605,000 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

General Obligation Capital Improvement Bonds, 
Series 2008C 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

We have served as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance and sale by the City of 
Norfolk, Virginia (the "City"), of its $153,605,000 General Obligation Capital Improvement 
Bonds, Series 2008C (the "2008C Bonds"), dated the date of delivery.   

In connection with this opinion, we have examined the Constitution of Virginia and the 
applicable laws of both the United States and the Commonwealth of Virginia, including without 
limitation the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and the Public Finance 
Act of 1991, Chapter 26, Title 15.2, Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, and copies of 
proceedings and other documents relating to the issuance and sale of the 2008C Bonds by the 
City as we have deemed necessary to render this opinion. 

As to questions of fact material to this opinion, we have relied upon (a) representations of 
the City, including, without limitation, representations as to the use of proceeds of the 2008C 
Bonds, (b) certifications of public officials furnished to us, and (c) certifications and 
representations contained in certificates of the City and others delivered at closing, without 
undertaking to verify them by independent investigation. We have assumed that all signatures on 
documents, certificates, and instruments examined by us are genuine, all documents, certificates, 
and instruments submitted to us as originals are authentic, and all documents, certificates, and 
instruments submitted to us as copies conform to the originals.  In addition, we have assumed 
that all documents, certificates, and instruments relating to this financing have been duly 
authorized, executed, and delivered by all parties to them other than the City, and we have 
further assumed the due organization, existence, and powers of all parties other than the City. 

Based on the foregoing, in our opinion, under current law: 
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 1. The 2008C Bonds have been authorized and issued in accordance with the 
Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia and constitute valid and binding general 
obligations of the City. 

 2. The Council of the City has the power and is authorized and required by law to 
levy and collect annually, at the same time and in the same manner as other taxes of the City are 
assessed, levied and collected, a tax upon all taxable property within the City, over and above all 
other taxes authorized or limited by law, and without limitation as to rate or amount, sufficient to 
pay when due the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the 2008C Bonds to the 
extent other funds of the City are not lawfully available and appropriated for such purpose. 

3. Interest on the 2008C Bonds, including any accrued "original issue discount" 
properly allocable to the owners of the 2008C Bonds, is excludable from gross income for 
purposes of federal income taxation under Section 103 of the Code and is not a specific item of 
tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum income tax imposed on 
individuals and corporations.  We observe, however, that for purposes of the alternative 
minimum tax imposed on corporations (as defined for federal income tax purposes) under 
Section 56 of the Code, interest on the 2008C Bonds must be included in computing adjusted 
current earnings.  The "original issue discount" on any 2008C Bond is the excess of its stated 
redemption price at maturity over the initial offering price to the public at which price a 
substantial amount of the 2008C Bonds of the same maturity was sold.  The "public" does not 
include bond houses, brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of 
underwriters, placement agents or wholesalers.  We express no opinion regarding other federal 
tax consequences arising with respect to the 2008C Bonds. 

In delivering this opinion, we are (i) relying upon and assuming the accuracy of 
certifications and representations of representatives of the City as to facts material to the opinion, 
and (ii) assuming continuing compliance with the Covenants (as defined below) by the City, so 
that interest on the 2008C Bonds will remain excludable from gross income for federal income 
tax purposes.  The Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder contain a number of 
requirements that must be satisfied after the issuance of the 2008C Bonds in order for interest on 
the 2008C Bonds to be and remain excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income 
taxation.  These requirements include, by way of example and not limitation, restrictions on the 
use, expenditure and investment of the proceeds of the 2008C Bonds and the use of the property 
financed or refinanced by the 2008C Bonds, limitations on the source of the payment of and the 
security for the 2008C Bonds, and the obligation to rebate certain excess earnings on the gross 
proceeds of the 2008C Bonds to the United States Treasury. The City's tax certificate for the 
2008C Bonds (the "Tax Certificate") contains covenants (the "Covenants") under which the City 
has agreed to comply with such requirements.  Failure by the City to comply with the Covenants 
could cause interest on the 2008C Bonds to become includable in gross income for federal 
income tax purposes retroactive to their date of issue.  In the event of noncompliance with the 
Covenants, the available enforcement remedies may be limited by applicable provisions of law 
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and, therefore, may not be adequate to prevent interest on the 2008C Bonds from becoming 
includible in gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

We have no responsibility to monitor compliance with the Covenants after the date of 
issue of the 2008C Bonds. 

Certain requirements and procedures contained, incorporated or referred to in the Tax 
Certificate, including the Covenants, may be changed and certain actions may be taken or 
omitted under the circumstances and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in such 
document.   

4. Interest on the 2008C Bonds is excludable from gross income of the owners 
thereof for purposes of income taxation by the Commonwealth of Virginia.  We express no 
opinion regarding (i) other Virginia tax consequences arising with respect to the 2008C Bonds 
or (ii) any consequences arising with respect to the 2008C Bonds under the tax laws of any 
state or local jurisdiction other than the Commonwealth of Virginia.   

Our services as Bond Counsel have been limited to rendering the foregoing opinion based 
on our review of such legal proceedings as we deem necessary to approve the validity of the 
2008C Bonds and the income tax status of the interest on them.  We have not been engaged and 
have not undertaken to review the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the Official 
Statement or other offering material relating to the 2008C Bonds and, therefore, we express no 
opinion as to the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of any information that may have been 
relied upon by any owner of the 2008C Bonds in making a decision to purchase the 2008C 
Bonds. 

Very truly yours,  
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the "Disclosure Agreement") is executed and 
delivered by the City of Norfolk, Virginia (the "City"), in connection with the issuance by the 
City of $153,605,000 original aggregate principal amount of its General Obligation Capital 
Improvement Bonds, Series 2008C (the "Bonds"), pursuant to a bond ordinance adopted by the 
Council of the City on June 3, 2008 (the "Ordinance").  The proceeds of the Bonds are being 
used by the City, along with other available funds, to (i) finance a portion of the City’s Capital 
Improvement Program as the City Council may amend it from time to time, and (ii) pay the costs 
incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. Pursuant to the Ordinance, the City 
approved the offering and sale of the Bonds to the public pursuant to an Official Statement 
relating to the Bonds, dated June 17, 2008 (the "Final Official Statement").  The City has 
determined that it constitutes an "obligated person" within the meaning of the Rule (as 
hereinafter defined) with respect to the Bonds and, accordingly, hereby represents, covenants and 
agrees as follows: 

Section 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement; Representation.  This Disclosure 
Agreement is being executed and delivered by the City for the benefit of the Holders (as defined 
below) and in order to assist the Participating Underwriters (as defined below) in complying with 
the Rule (as defined below).  The City acknowledges that it is undertaking primary responsibility 
for any reports, notices or disclosures that may be required under this Disclosure Agreement. 

Section 2. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the Ordinance, 
which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement unless otherwise defined 
in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

"Annual Financial Information" with respect to any Fiscal Year of the City means the 
following: 

(i) the financial statements (consisting of at least a statement of net assets, a 
statement of cash flows and a statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net assets for 
all governmental/enterprise funds) of the City, which (A) are prepared annually in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time consistently applied 
(provided that nothing in this clause (A) will prohibit the City after the date of the Final Official 
Statement from changing such principles so as to comply with generally accepted accounting 
principles as then in effect or to comply with a change in applicable Virginia law); and (B) are 
audited by an independent certified public accountant or firm of such accountants in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards as in effect from time to time; and 

(ii) updates of the operating data contained in the sections in the Final Official 
Statement "Table II-3, Key Debt Trends," "Table II-6, Ratio of Net General Bonded Debt to 
Assessed Value and Net Bonded Debt Per Capita," "Table III-2, Assessed Valuations and 
Estimated Actual Values of Taxable Property," "Table III-4, Tax Rates and Equalization 
Factors," "Table III-6, Real and Personal Property Tax Levies and Collections," "Table III-7, Ten 
Principal Real Property Taxpayers" and "Table III-14, Comparative Statement of Revenue and 
Expenditures, General Fund." 
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"Dissemination Agent" shall mean the City, acting in its capacity as Dissemination 
Agent hereunder, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the City and 
which has filed with the City a written acceptance of such designation. 

"Fiscal Year" shall mean the twelve-month period, at the end of which the financial 
position of the City and results of its operations for such period are determined.  Currently, the 
City's Fiscal Year begins July 1 and continues through June 30 of the next year. 

"Holder" shall mean, for purposes of this Disclosure Agreement, any person who is a 
record owner or beneficial owner of an Obligation. 

"Make Public" or "Made Public" has the meaning set forth in Section 4 of this 
Disclosure Agreement. 

"MSRB" shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

"NRMSIR" shall mean each nationally recognized municipal securities information 
repository approved as such by the SEC from time to time. 

"Participating Underwriter" shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds 
required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of such Bonds. 

"Rule" shall mean Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and any 
similar rules of the SEC relating to disclosure requirements in the offering and sale of municipal 
securities, all as in effect from time to time. 

"SEC" shall mean the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 

"SID" shall mean any state-based information depository existing from time to time in 
the Commonwealth of Virginia for the purpose of receiving information concerning municipal 
securities and recognized as such by the SEC. 

Section 3. Obligations of the City.  (a)  The City shall complete the preparation of 
the Annual Financial Information with respect to any Fiscal Year of the City not later than 270 
days after the end of such Fiscal Year. 

(b) The City shall, in accordance with the Rule, Make Public or cause to be Made 
Public by the Dissemination Agent (if different from the City), the Annual Financial Information 
within 30 days after it is prepared. 

(c) The City shall Make Public or cause to be Made Public by the Dissemination 
Agent (if different from the City), in a timely manner, notice of any of the following events that 
may from time to time occur with respect to the Bonds, but with respect to the items in (i) 
through (xi), only if material: 

(i) principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(ii) non-payment related defaults; 
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(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

(iv) unscheduled draws on any credit enhancement maintained with respect to the 
Bonds reflecting financial difficulties; 

(v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(vi) adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of interest on the 
Bonds; 

(vii) modifications to rights of Holders; 

(viii) bond calls; 

(ix) defeasances; 

(x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds;  

(xi) rating changes; and  

(xii) the failure of the City on or before the date required by this Disclosure Agreement 
to provide Annual Financial Information to the persons and in the manner 
required by this Disclosure Agreement;   

provided that nothing in this subsection (c) shall require the City to maintain any debt service 
reserve, credit enhancement or credit or liquidity providers with respect to the Bonds or to pledge 
any property as security for repayment of the Bonds. 

(d) The City shall notify each NRMSIR (as defined below) of any change in its Fiscal 
Year not later than the date on which it first provides any information to the NRMSIRs in the 
current Fiscal Year.   

Section 4. Information Made Public.  Information shall be deemed to have been 
"Made Public" for purposes of this Disclosure Agreement if transmitted to each of the following 
as herein required: 

(i) each NRMSIR, at its then current address, including the following NRMSIRs 
existing as of the date hereof: 
 

Bloomberg Municipal Repository 
100 Business Park Drive 
Skillman, New Jersey 08558 
Phone:  (609) 279-3225 
Fax:  (609) 279-5962 
http://www.bloomberg.com/markets/rates/municontacts.html 
Email:   Munis@Bloomberg.com 
 
DPC Data Inc. 
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One Executive Drive 
Fort Lee, New Jersey 07024 
Phone: (201) 346-0701 
Fax: (201) 947-0107 
http://www.dpcdata.com 
Email: nrmsir@dpcdata.com 
 
Standard & Poor's Securities Evaluations, Inc. 
55 Water Street, 45th Floor 
New York, New York  10041 
Phone:  (212) 438-4595 
Fax:  (212) 438-3975 
http://www.disclosuredirectory.standardandpoors.com/ 
Email: nrmsir_repository@sandp.com 
 
FT Interactive Data 
Attn:  NRMSIR 
100 William Street, 15th Floor 
New York, New York  10038 
Phone:  (212) 771-6999; (800) 689-8466 
Fax:  (212) 771-7390 
http://www.ftid.com 
Email: NRMSIR@interactivedata.com 

 
(ii) at its then current address, the SID, if any; provided that in the case of any 

information Made Public under Section 3(c), such information may be provided to the MSRB at 
the following address (or such other address as may at the time be in effect), in lieu of providing 
it to the NRMSIRs as described in clause (i) above: 
 

Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board 
1900 Duke Street 
Suite 600 
Alexandria, Virginia  22314 
Phone: (703) 797-6600 
Fax: (703) 797-6704 

 
Section 5. Incorporation by Reference.  Any or all of the Annual Financial 

Information may be incorporated by reference from other documents, including official 
statements containing information with respect to the City, which have been filed with each of 
the NRMSIRs or the SEC.  If the document incorporated by reference is a final official 
statement, it must be available from the MSRB.  The City shall clearly identify each such other 
document so incorporated by reference. 

Section 6. CUSIP Numbers.  The City shall reference, or cause the Dissemination 
Agent (if different from the City) to reference, the CUSIP prefix number for the Bonds in any 
notice provided to the NRMSIRs, the MSRB and/or the SID pursuant to Sections 3 and 4. 
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Section 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The obligations of the City under 
this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the earlier to occur of the legal defeasance or 
final retirement of the Bonds. 

Section 8. Dissemination Agent.  The City may, from time to time, appoint or 
engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure 
Agreement and may discharge any such Agent, with or without appointing a successor 
Dissemination Agent.  If at any time there is not any other designated Dissemination Agent, the 
City shall be the Dissemination Agent. 

Section 9. Amendment.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure 
Agreement, the City may amend this Disclosure Agreement, if such amendment is supported by 
an opinion of independent counsel with expertise in federal securities laws addressed to the City 
and to the Participating Underwriters for the Bonds to the effect that such amendment is 
permitted or required by the Rule. 

Section 10. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be 
deemed to prevent the City from disseminating any other information, using the means of 
dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or 
including any other information in any Annual Financial Information or notice of occurrence of 
an event listed in Section 3(c), in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure 
Agreement.  If the City chooses to report any information in any Annual Financial Information 
or include any information in a notice of occurrence of an event listed in Section 3(c), in addition 
to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the City shall have no 
obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any future 
Annual Financial Information or notice of occurrence of such an event. 

Section 11. Default.  Any Holder, whether acting jointly or severally, may take such 
action as may be permitted by law against the appropriate public official to secure compliance 
with the obligations of the City under this Disclosure Agreement.  In addition, any Holder, 
whether acting jointly or severally, may take such action as may be permitted by law to 
challenge the adequacy of any information provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, or to 
enforce any other obligation of the City hereunder.  A default under this Disclosure Agreement 
shall not be deemed an event of default under the Ordinance or other debt authorization of the 
City, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any failure of the City 
to comply herewith shall be an action to compel performance.  Nothing in this provision shall be 
deemed to restrict the rights or remedies of any Holder pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, or other applicable laws. 

Section 12. Central Post Office.  Any filing under this Disclosure Agreement may be 
made solely by transmitting such filing to the Texas Municipal Advisory Council (the "MAC") 
as provided at http://www.disclosureusa.org unless the SEC has withdrawn the interpretive 
advice in its letter to the MAC dated September 7, 2004. 

Section 13. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit 
of the City, the Participating Underwriters and Holders from time to time of the City's Bonds, 
and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 
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Section 14. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

 
[The Remainder of This Page is Intentionally Left Blank] 
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Date:  June __, 2008 
 
 

CITY OF NORFOLK, VIRGINIA 

By:  ______________________________________ 
City Manager, 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

By:  ______________________________________ 
Acting Director of Finance, 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 

 
 

 
 
Approved as to Form and Correctness: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Office of City Attorney 
City of Norfolk, Virginia 
 
 
 

[Signature Page to Continuing Disclosure Agreement] 
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